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11..  IINNTTRROODDUUCCTTIIOONN  
  
For any consumer, the purchase of a home, or the engaging of a contractor to construct a home, 
represents the largest single investment in their lifetime.  It is widely recognised that consumers 
should insure their car and the contents of their home.  It would seem equally important, if not 
more so, for consumers to insure their largest investment, namely the construction of their home 
against building defects and the failure of a contractor to complete the works. 
 
The Queensland Building Services Authority (BSA) is recognised Australia wide as the lead 
agency for regulation of the building industry, and provision of consumer protection.  Unlike other 
regulatory models, the BSA model is dynamic and innovative, focussing on continuous 
improvement to ensure the most cost effective and innovative methods are employed to achieve 
quality outcomes. 
 
The BSA was formed in 1991 to replace the Builders’ Registration Board of Queensland, which 
first came into being in 1972.  The BSA was created following an extensive review by the 
Queensland Government aimed at providing the best outcomes for building industry participants. 
 
The Queensland regulatory model is recognised by other State Governments and external 
consultants as best practice.  The model is based upon a functional integrated approach that 
recognises the mutually interdependent nature of particular regulatory activities such as licensing, 
early dispute resolution and the safety-net of home warranty insurance. 
 
Overall the greatest form of consumer protection is prevention and getting the right outcome at the 
beginning.  For most people, there are only minor problems experienced with the building process.  
However, for the few who experience major problems, they can have catastrophic impacts.  The 
overwhelming message learnt over the last few years is that the regulatory regime must be clear, 
co-ordinated and well understood by building contractors and consumers alike. 
 
The BSA provides a 5-pronged approach to protecting consumers from faulty home building: 
 

• A licensing regime which ensures that licensees have appropriate financial backing and the 
relevant technical qualifications. 

• A dispute resolution service which seeks to mediate and resolve disputes between parties. 
• A compliance service which monitors and prosecutes contractors.  
• A home warranty insurance scheme which provides insurance cover to consumers for non-

completion, defects and subsidence claims. 
• An information advisory and awareness service to consumers and contractors. 

 
The consumer protection regime established by the Queensland Building Services Authority Act 
1991 (QBSA Act) was designed to create an environment which ensured adequately informed 
consumers dealt with competent, ethical contractors in an equitable contractual relationship, which 
preserved the rights and responsibilities of all parties.  This regime is supported by access to an 
effective dispute resolution process, and the maintenance of an insurance safety net for 
consumers who are not adequately protected by the system. 
 
Upon its establishment in 1991, the BSA was given an expanded charter which had a dual focus of 
consumer protection and industry development.  Consumer protection roles included consumer 
awareness and education, and the licensing of trade contractors. 
 
The addition of these roles, together with more equitable legislated minimum contract conditions, 
were seen as important initiatives to bolster the existing regime of builder licensing, dispute 
resolution and home warranty insurance, and thereby bring about a more comprehensive 
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consumer protection regime.  The introduction of the Domestic Building Contracts Act 2000 (an Act 
which regulates domestic building contracts) further reinforced the environment of greater contract 
control. 
 
  
22..  LLIICCEENNSSIINNGG  
 
Licensees are divided into the following financial categories based on their annual turnover (note: 
these figures are the amended figures which have applied since 1 July 2006): 

 
Categories  Allowable Annual Turnover   

 
SC1   $0 - $100,000     
SC2   $100,000 - $300,000    
1   $300,000 - $600,000     
2   $600,000 - $3 Million   
3    $3 Million - $12 Million   
4 $12 Million - $30 Million   
5 $30 Million - $60 Million   
6 $60 Million - $120 Million   
7 $120 Million - $240 Million   
8 $240 Million and above   

 
Financial monitoring occurs at the time of applying for a licence, at licence renewal and through 
audits conducted by BSA.  The monitoring principally involves a review of the Net Tangible Assets, 
and the liquidity of the licensee to ensure the company is financially sound and operating within its 
Allowable Annual Turnover. 
 
The extent of monitoring is directly related to the turnover of the licensee.  For example, licensees 
in categories SC1 and SC2 are able to self-certify their financial position by way of a statutory 
declaration whereas licensees in categories 4 – 8 must have their accounts independently 
confirmed by an auditor (see page 10 of Attachment A relating to Financial Requirements for 
Licensing). 
 
The minimum financial monitoring requirements require the completion of the following forms, 
examples of which are contained in Attachment A: 
 

• For Categories 1 – 3: the independent review report (form 1 version 4) 
• For Categories 4 – 8: the audit report (form 2 version 4) 

 
Licensees with an allowable annual turnover of $300,000 or more are also required at licence 
renewal to satisfy the following two tests (see page 44 of Attachment A): 
 

• Satisfy the Net Tangible Asset test 
• Satisfy the BSA of their liquidity ratio (ie: current assets/current liabilities).   

 
The liquidity ratio provides a snap shot of the licensee’s current assets over current liabilities at a 
particular point in time.  
 
The legislation requires that a contractor meets the financial requirements for licensing at all times 
while the licence is current.  Thus, contractors are required to meet the liquidity ratio at all times. 
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33..    DDIISSPPUUTTEE  RREESSOOLLUUTTIIOONN  
 
 
When BSA commenced operation in July 1992, the level of dispute notifications for the previous 
year was 1,893.  Since that time there have been significant increases in the levels of notification 
each year to a record of 5,610 disputes in 2003/04.  This has tapered off to 4,590 in 2006/07. 
 
The figures regarding complaints received against contract notifications are as follows: 
 

 Contract 
notifications 

Complaints 
received 

06/07 93 166 4 590 
05/06 85 023 5 021 
04/05 82 065 5 094 
03/04 88 582 5 610 
02/03 72 779 5 347 
01/02 62 506 4 827 

 
 
While the BSA has no specific legislative charter for dispute resolution, the fact remains that the 
BSA’s exercise of its power to require rectification of defective work, acts as an effective dispute 
resolution mechanism.  Thus, the BSA’s obligation to ensure the maintenance of standards of work 
is directly linked to its dispute resolution outcomes.   
 
The BSA’s dispute resolution process is premised on early intervention in the dispute.  This early 
intervention is designed to prevent the dispute from escalating. 
 
The BSA’s dispute resolution process is provided free of charge, and includes a number of 
avenues for review/appeal to provide appropriate checks and balances and ensure accountability.  
These checks and balances include formal review of BSA decisions by the independent 
Commercial and Consumer Tribunal. 
 
 
44..  CCOOMMPPLLIIAANNCCEE  SSEERRVVIICCEE  
  
The BSA’s compliance section investigates complaints and conducts audits on licensees to ensure 
they meet financial and contractual requirements.  It also issues infringement notices and demerit 
points for breaches of the QBSA Act or the Domestic Building Contracts Act 2000. 
 
An effective compliance agenda is essential to the validity of any regulatory framework.  Further, 
within the BSA’s integrated scheme, the compliance agenda is underpinned by licensing, dispute 
management and insurance being part of the same regulatory structure. 
 
For example, where the compliance branch has identified a licensee company in such a poor 
financial position as to warrant taking advantage of the laws of bankruptcy, the BSA is able to react 
immediately by suspending the company’s licence.  Further, information from a compliance audit 
may be of immense value to the insurance branch in the event of the failure of a contractor. 
 
In the past, the BSA has been able to identify the likely extent of the effect on consumers of a 
company’s failure, from records obtained from the contractor for the purpose of financial 
requirements for licensing.  The BSA is then able to contact affected consumers and advise them 
of their legal rights and responsibilities.  In the case of a failure of a larger contractor, the BSA may 
also organise a seminar for affected consumers to help them through the effects of the company’s 
collapse. 
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It is clear that the effectiveness of the BSA’s response to a financial failure is substantially aided by 
the fact that all regulatory functions are located within one regulatory agency.  While it is possible 
that separate agencies could achieve similar outcomes with effective communication strategies, 
the fact remains that a single agency is able to develop its various responses to issues in tandem 
rather than waiting for advice from an external agency. 
 
 
55..  HHOOMMEE  WWAARRRRAANNTTYY  IINNSSUURRAANNCCEE  SSCCHHEEMMEE  
 
Privatisation of insurance 
 
In 1977 Queensland introduced a statutory home warranty insurance scheme, which followed 
similar schemes launched interstate.  In the mid 1990’s, the NSW and Victorian Governments 
decided to withdraw from providing statutory home warranty insurance, and to allow private 
insurers to operate in the home warranty insurance market, with the expectation that these 
privatised schemes would deliver a more competitive product for contractors, and would be more 
consumer friendly.  It was believed that strong market competition would provide better products, 
more affordable pricing and improved customer service.  It was also believed that insurers would 
provide dispute resolution services as part of their claim process, thus avoiding the need for 
Government to provide these services. 
 
Initially, the market was competitive, but, in recent years, there have been dramatic premium 
increases and major reductions in policy cover.  The situation was exacerbated by the failure of 
HIH Insurance, which left the market with one primary underwriter.  This resulted in contractors 
experiencing great difficulty in obtaining home warranty insurance for their projects, and has 
necessitated contractors having to “lock up” substantial assets in the form of bank guarantees.  
Small operators, who are unattractive to insurers, have had to wait extensive periods of time to get 
insurance coverage, or have been forced to arrange with the consumer to carry out work under 
owner-builder permits.  Further, the sole underwriter threatened withdrawal from the market unless 
Government reduced the scope of cover, and provided dispute resolution services.  Cover in both 
states is now restricted to death, disappearance and insolvency of the contractor – this is a 
substantial reduction in policy coverage compared with that offered in Queensland. 
 
The restriction of cover to death, disappearance or insolvency of the contractor is known as “last 
resort” home warranty insurance.  Last resort insurance falls far short of protecting consumers for 
the major risks associated with the construction of a home.  The “first resort” scheme operating in 
Queensland provides additional insurance cover for contractor default both during construction of a 
home, and for rectification of defects after construction is complete.  This is a major and necessary 
element of an effective consumer protection regime, ensuring that contractors cannot walk away 
from contract works, or avoid their statutory obligations to rectify defective work.  Consumers in 
NSW and Victoria who find themselves with incomplete or defective work, where there is no death, 
disappearance or insolvency of a contractor, have to seek recourse through the courts. 
 
Compliance with APRA standards 
 
As a statutory insurer, the BSA is not subject to the general insurance industry’s regulatory 
supervisor, the Australian Prudential Regulatory Authority (APRA).  However, in order to ensure a 
solid financial framework for its insurance operations, the BSA voluntarily complies with the 
conditions APRA imposes on the general insurance industry, and manages the home warranty 
scheme in accordance with all of APRA’s requirements.  The BSA has adopted APRA’s 75% 
probability requirement for calculating the home warranty scheme’s future claims provisions, and 
has maintained its free reserves in excess of the required $5 million. 
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Reinsurance 
 
Currently the BSA reinsures 75% of its risk with 3 reinsurers.  The reinsurance panel, and the 
extent of reinsurance provided by each of the reinsurers, is as follows: 
 

• Munich Reinsurance:  40% 
• Swiss Re:   20% 
• Suncorp:   15% 

 
The BSA underwrites the scheme on the same basis as a general insurer, and provides the 
balance of 25% of the risk, ensuring that it fully provides in its accounts for its share of future 
claims liabilities and associated administrative expenses. 
 
The BSA’s reinsurers have expressed their long-term commitment to the scheme.  This 
commitment is in large measure due to the BSA’s unique integrated model of licensing, 
compliance, dispute resolution, insurance and consumer and contractor education. 
 
Extent of cover 
 
Queensland currently offers the most comprehensive warranty insurance scheme of any State.  It 
is a system that is highly focussed on customer service.  The insurance cover has been extended 
(from 29 September 2006) to now provide a $400,000 maximum cover without a payable excess.  
 
The BSA’s home warranty scheme covers consumers for loss under a contract for residential 
construction work in the event that the building contractor fails to complete the contract or fails to 
rectify defective work. The extent of the current cover is: 

• $200,000 for non-completion, defects and subsidence that occur prior to practical completion;   

• $200,000 for defects and subsidence claims that occur after practical completion; 

• The maximum total cover available is $400,000. 

• These amounts include $5,000 for alternative accommodation, removal and storage costs. 

 
Unique features 
 
Unique to Queensland is its “no fault” subsidence cover, whereby consumers are insured against 
subsidence, regardless as to whether or not the construction itself is defective.  Contractors are 
also relieved of liability for the rectification cost of subsidence, if they build to a BSA standard.  This 
Queensland initiative not only insures consumers, but also protects contractors from the extreme 
costs associated with subsidence failures. 
 
Another unique feature, and one which can only be provided under a monopoly arrangement, is 
the provision of insurance benefits to uninsured consumers.  In Queensland, Building Certifiers 
cannot give development approval without sighting evidence of QBSA insurance cover.  Even so, 
work is occasionally performed without insurance cover.  While the primary focus is to insure the 
work of licensed contractors, the BSA recognises that the industry has its “shonks” who 
fraudulently claim to hold a BSA licence.  To cover this scenario, the BSA extends insurance cover 
to consumers who suffer loss as a result of fraudulent representation by contractors who are not 
licensed. 
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Overview of premiums and approvals 
 
In 2006/07 BSA processed 93 166 policies with gross premium receipts of $64M, a substantial 
increase over the years since 2002/03 as indicated in the table below:  
 

 Policies written Gross premiums received

06/07 93 166 $64.00 million 

05/06 85 023 $48.00 million 

04/05 82 065 $43.10 million 

03/04 88 582 $42.50 million 

02/03 72 779 $33.70 million 

 
Increasing levels of high activity reflect the demand for housing by a rapidly growing Queensland 
population. 
 
The home warranty scheme’s effectiveness as a consumer protection mechanism was affirmed in 
2006/2007 with 100% of consumers being fully compensated.  The following table provides a 
breakdown of total claims approval since 2002/2003: 
 

 Number of 
claims approved

Approval amount

06/07 2,240 $26.05 million 

05/06 2,279 $21.62 million 

04/05 1,984 $17.90 million 

03/04 2,440 $22.14 million 

02/03 2,339 $15.42 million 

 
In relation to claim approvals, the BSA’s home warranty scheme performed within Actuarial 
expectations. 
 
Premium Structure 
 
The current premium structure is set out in the attached Insurance Premium Table (Attachment B).  
These are the premiums current from 1 July 2007. 
 
 
66..  IINNFFOORRMMAATTIIOONN  SSEERRVVIICCEESS  
 
It is essential to equip consumers and contractors with knowledge and information in order to 
reduce the likelihood of things going wrong. 
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The BSA’s consumer awareness/education strategy includes: 
 

• General consumer awareness raising 
• Access to advisory services 
• Provision of information material 
• Consumer education programmes. 

 
The strategy is layered to recognise that most consumers have limited interest in accessing 
information or seminars until they are active participants.  Through its general awareness 
programs, the BSA aims to build recognition of its role and services so that when the consumer 
becomes an active participant, they are aware of the BSA’s capacity to provide additional 
information. 
 
The early focus was on awareness and advice, but over the last 2 years, the BSA has built on the 
awareness and advice programmes by developing new information materials and conducting more 
consumer education seminars.  This programme is provided as widely as possible, and free of 
charge.  
 
The BSA “Facts” booklet is the main consumer information resource, with about 40,000 issued 
annually.  The BSA has also developed a CD-Rom for consumers – “A walk through the building 
process”, and is disseminating this product at seminars and home shows, to consumers who are 
showing an interest in building. 
 
In 2006/2007 the BSA’s state-wide 1300 BSA BSA telephone service handled 249,364 calls (up 
from 165,875 in 2005/2006).  To support BSA’s delivery of consistent advice and information via 
this service, the BSA employed 10 additional staff in the contact centre, and increased staff 
training.  A knowledge base information system, containing an extensive range of responses to 
general enquiries, continues to support the delivery of consistent information to consumers and 
contractors alike. 
 
The BSA also organises state-wide SuperShows which cover a range of topics relevant to the 
building industry (eg: sessions outline the best methods of achieving compliance with the Domestic 
Building Contracts Act 2000 and Building and Construction Industry Payments Act 2004.) 
 
The BSA also undertakes various promotional activities as part of a marketing campaign aimed at 
increasing public awareness of the BSA, its 1300 phone number and its website. 
 
Industry Services is a new BSA initiative to provide personalised support for licensees.  This area 
has conducted information sessions for new licensees on issues relevant to their sector of the 
industry.  Sessions planned for 2008 include: water tank installation; supervision; plasterboard 
installation; concreting; waterproofing; and wall and floor tiling. 
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ABOUT THIS DOCUMENT 

IMPORTANT 
 

This Queensland Building Services Board Policy constitutes the financial requirements for the 
Queensland Building Services Authority Act 1991 (“Act”).  All Applicants for a licence and 
Licensees undertaking building work in Queensland, other than Supervisors, MUST comply with 
this policy. 
 
The policy consists of the following documents, which must be read in conjunction with the Act 
and Queensland Building Services Regulation 2003 (“Regulation”): 

• Financial Requirements for Licensing Policy; 
• Deed of Covenant and Assurance;  
• Draft Client Engagement Letter; and 
• BSA Draft Client Questionnaire. 
 

 
The aims of the financial requirements are: 
• To promote more financially viable businesses; and  
• To foster more professional business practices in the building industry. 
 
The financial requirements limit annual turnover based upon defined assets or capital levels and test whether 
debts can be met when they fall due (a liquidity test).  Licensees and licence Applicants regardless of whether 
they are builders, trade contractors or building designers are required to provide a Declaration, Independent 
Review Report or Audit Report demonstrating that they satisfy the criteria set out in this document.  The type 
of Report required depends on the Applicant or Licensee’s financial category, which is determined by their 
declared Net Tangible Asset position. 
 
A full explanation of the financial requirements for licensing is set out in this document and 
Applicants and Licensees are encouraged to familiarise themselves with its contents.  An 
‘Appropriately Qualified Person’ must complete either an Independent Review Report or Audit 
Report where the Applicant or Licensee is seeking a turnover of more than $300,000.  An 
‘Appropriately Qualified Person’ is described in section 2.2 of the policy. 
 
WARNING: 
 
All forms and declarations (Attachments 1-9) found within this policy are prescribed forms.  
 
The prescribed forms MUST be returned with every application or annual renewal without alteration, other 
than the completion of the spaces provided, unless otherwise advised within the requirements.  These forms 
are also separately presented at the Authority’s website at www.bsa.qld.gov.au and can be downloaded for 
appropriate use. 
 
If the financial information required by this policy is not provided to the Authority in the prescribed form it will 
not be accepted.  In the case of a Licensee, the licence may be suspended for a period of time and may 
eventually be cancelled if the requirements are not met. 
 
The suspension or cancellation of a licence removes a Licensee’s entitlement to carry on business. 
Contractors who continue to perform building work without a licence are liable to be prosecuted or face 
disciplinary action and may prejudice their rights to payment for work they have carried out. 

http://www.bsa.qld.gov.au/
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1.  FINANCIAL REQUIREMENTS FOR LICENSING 

1.1 Objectives 
To minimise the incidence of financial failure by –  
• Requiring Licensees to maintain adequate capital relative to the size of their business; and 
• Requiring Licensees to take an active role in managing their financial affairs and keep appropriate 

financial records. 

1.2 Compliance With This Policy 

Applicants and Licensees are required to meet the respective requirements set out in the policy and 
provide the information in the prescribed form.  
 
If the Authority has concerns in regards to the accuracy of the information contained in the financial 
reports provided, it may request more or clarifying information from the Applicant, Licensee of 
Appropriately Qualified Person. 
 

1.2.1 Declarations 
 
Those Applicants and Licensees who require an Allowable Annual Turnover (AATO) of NOT more 
than $300,000, and have the minimum level of Net Tangible Assets (NTA), as set out in SC1 and 
SC2 Categories of Table 1 of $6,000 or $18,000 respectively, may submit one of the following .  Either 
- 
• For all Contractors, excluding Builder classes – Declaration – Allowable Annual Turnover under 

$100,000 per annum (Attachment 5); or 
• For all Contractors – Declaration – Allowable Annual Turnover under $300,000 per annum 

(Attachment 6). 
 

All Applicants or Licensees submitting one of the above Declarations must meet the following 
requirements in order to comply with this policy: 
• Net Tangible Assets (NTA) wholly in the licensed entity’s name required for the allowable annual 

turnover of the entity. 
• A Declaration made by the entity or its authorised officer 
• Evidence of Professional Indemnity Insurance, where applicable. 
 

1.2.2 Independent Review Report or Audit Report 
 
Applicants and Licensees who require an Allowable Annual Turnover (AATO) of $300,001 or more, 
must submit one (1) of the following Reports completed in accordance with this policy by an 
Appropriately Qualified Person, determined by the level of annual turnover required by the entity.  
Either -  
• An Independent Review Report; or 
• An Audit Report. 

 
All Applicants or Licensees submitting one of the above Reports must meet each of the following 
requirements in order to comply: 
• Net Tangible Assets (NTA) wholly in the licensed entity’s name or in combination with amounts 

assured by way of one or more Deeds of Covenant and Assurance, which are appropriate for the 
annual turnover of the entity; 
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• Ratio calculated in accordance with one of the prescribed formulas (Refer section 1.3 
Definitions): 

 Liquidity Ratio (until 30 June 2007); or 

 Current Ratio; and 

• Internal financial monitoring requirements of at least the specified periods for their Category. 

1.3 Definitions 
In this document: 
 
• ‘Act’ -    
means the Queensland Building Services Authority Act 1991. 
 
• ‘Allowable Annual Turnover’ – 
means the Allowable Annual Turnover: 
 

 For Licensees providing a Declaration in accordance with SC1 or SC2 - for the Licence Year. 
 

 For those Licensee’s relying upon an Independent Review Report or Audit Report – for the 12 
month period upon which the Licensee’s next Independent Review Report or Audit Report is 
based, calculated in accordance with the formula contained in Table 1. 

 
Examples: 
Licensees providing a Declaration (SC1 or SC2):  
the Allowable Annual Turnover is for the next 12 month renewal period.  
 
Licensees providing an Independent Review Report or Audit Report: 
Licensee has a licence renewal due on 31 October 2007, and provides a Report based on 30 June 
2007 year end accounts.  The Allowable Annual Turnover issued to the Licensee (based on this 
Report) will be for the 12 months to 30 June 2008.  
 
• ‘Annual Turnover’ – 
means the total revenue derived by the Licensee from all sources. Further: 
 

 For Licensees engaged directly in project or construction management (where project costs are 
paid directly by the Principal to parties lower in the contractual chain), or who have a building 
design licence, the annual turnover in respect of those activities is calculated on the total 
amount received by the Licensee rather than the value of projects. Alternatively, the component 
of the work processed via the Licensee is deemed turnover.  

 In the case of a partnership, the Annual Turnover is to be the annual turnover of the Licensee 
and the partnership in combination. 

 In the case of a trust, the Annual Turnover is to be the annual turnover of the Licensee and the 
trust in combination. 

 
• ‘Applicant’- 
means an applicant for a licence issued under the Act. 
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• Assets’ –  
means assets owned both legally and beneficially by the entity (that is, does not include assets which 
are held on trust for another person or corporation) and includes but is not limited to the following: 

(a) real estate; 
(b) cash; 
(c) Investments (if collectible); 
(d) related entity loans and investments (if collectible); 
(e) shares in publicly listed companies; 
(f) plant and equipment; 
(g) inventory;  
(h) debtors (if collectible); 
(i) motor vehicles; and 
(j) tools of trade. 

Assets do not include the following: 
(a) furniture (personal); 
(b) shares in companies that are not publicly listed companies; and 
(c) trade or barter dollars 

 
• ‘Associated Company’- 
means a company that: 
1. is related to the Licensee within the meaning of section 50 of the Corporations Act 2001; or 
2. has the same shareholders and directors as the Licensee. 
 
• ‘ASIC’- 
means Australian Securities and Investment Commission. 
 
• ‘Authority’ – 
means the Queensland Building Services Authority. 
 
• ‘Board’ – 
means the Queensland Building Services Board. 
 
• ‘Builder’ – 
means an individual or company carrying out building work for which a Builder or equivalent licence is 
required under the Act. 
 
• ‘Building Designer’ – 
means an individual or company carrying out building work for which a Building Design – Open, 
Building Design – Medium Rise or Building Design – Low Rise licence is required under the Act. 
 
• ‘Compliance Audit’ – 
means an audit carried out by the Authority on a Licensee pursuant to section 50C of the Act. 

 
• ‘Current Assets’ - 
means assets which in the ordinary course of business would be realised within 12 (twelve) months 
after the end of the reporting period or held primarily for trading purposes, as defined with Australian 
Accounting Standards AA36.  Related entity loans and/or investments included as current assets must 
be both collectible and convertible into cash within 12 (twelve) months for inclusion in the calculation. 
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• ‘Current Financial Institution Facilities’ – 
includes the current balance owing of bank and similar financial institution loans, and includes (but not 
limited to) –  
1. Bank Overdraft 
2. Hire Purchase Agreements 
3. Credit Cards 

 
• ‘Current Liabilities’ - 
means liabilities which in the ordinary course of business are expected to be settled within 12 (twelve) 
months after the end of the reporting period, as defined in the Australian Accounting Standards AA36. 
 
• ‘Current Ratio - 
means the ratio calculated by using the formula: 

 
Current Assets 
Current Liabilities 

 
• ‘Debtors’ – 
means only Debtors that are collectible. 
 
• ‘Declaration’ –  
means a Declaration in the prescribed form provided to the Authority in order to meet the requirements 
of this policy and includes the following: 
1. Attachment 5 – Declaration – Allowable Annual Turnover up to $100,000 per annum 
2. Attachment 6 – Declaration – Allowable Annual Turnover up to $300,000 per annum 
3. Declaration in the prescribed form contained within the Authority’s Application forms 
4. Declaration in the prescribed form contained within the Renewal Notice issued to the Licensee 
5. Verbal declaration provided by the Licensee when renewing a licence using Phone pay. 
 
• ‘Deed of Assurance’ – 
means the Deed of Covenant and Assurance which is contained in this policy. 
 
• ‘Defined Amount’ – 
means the amount determined pursuant to the Financial Requirements for Licensing, as being the 
amount assured by the Covenantor to the Licensee by Deed of Covenant and Assurance, as stated in 
the Independent Review Report or Audit Report provided to the Authority from time to time.  The 
amount is the difference between the Net Tangible Assets held by the Licensee and the Net Tangible 
Assets required for the Licensee’s Allowable Annual Turnover. 
 
Example: 
 
Licensee requires NTA of $36,000 to support $600,000 AATO 
Licensee has NTA $10,000 in its own right 
Defined Amount required (as stated in Report) is $26,000 assured by Deed of Covenant and 
Assurance (equals deficiency between required NTA and actual NTA of Licensee). 
 
• ‘Directors’ – 
has the meaning given to it in the Corporations Act 2001 and also includes an Officer (refer definition 
of an Officer).  
 
• ‘Disallowed Assets’ – 
means an entity’s assets, or portion thereof, which are unable to be relied upon for the purposes of 
meeting the requirements in this policy (eg uncollectible debts).   
 
• ‘Entity’ – 
means an individual or a company. 
• ‘Intangible Assets’ –  
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include, but are not limited to, Goodwill, Right of Indemnity, Intellectual Property, Formation Expenses, 
Value of Trademark, Patent and Borrowing Expenses. 
 
• ‘Internal Management Accounts’ –  
means Statement of Financial Performance, Statement of Financial Position (formerly Trading, Profit & 
Loss and Balance Sheets) and Statement of Cash Flows. 
 
• ‘Inventory’ -  
includes raw materials, work in progress (including contract work in progress) and finished stock. 
 
• ‘Investments’ – 
means only investments that are collectible, and not shares in companies that are not publicly listed. 
 
• ‘Liabilities’ – 
includes any debts or obligations which must be paid or settled within a certain period of time or are 
payable on demand. 
 
•  ‘Licence Year’ – 
means the period of 12 months from the date the licence is initially granted or is renewed.  However, 
where a Licensee is altering their renewal date in accordance with this policy, ‘licence year’ may 
include a period of less or greater than 12 months. Refer section 5. 
 
• ‘Licensee” – 
means the holder of a licence issued under the Act with an Allowable Annual Turnover. 
 
• ‘Liquidity Ratio’ –  
means the ratio calculated by using the formula: 
 

(Current Assets - Inventory) 
(Current Liabilities - Current Financial Institution Facilities) 

 
• ‘Net Real Unencumbered Assets’ – 
an entity’s Net Real Unencumbered Assets are to be calculated using the same process in determining 
an Applicant’s or Licensee’s NTA.   
 
Note:  All assets and liabilities of the Covenantor/s (from all sources) must be taken into account in 
determining Net Real Unencumbered Assets.  Where assets are jointly owned, only the Covenantor’s 
share of equity within an asset can be included.   
 
Net real unencumbered assets do not include: 
1. assets subject to securities or encumbrances, other than to the extent to which the real value of 

those assets can be shown to exceed the liability under all encumbrances provided (including 
Personal Guarantees, Indemnities and the like); 

2. assets being assured by a Deed of Covenant and Assurance to another Applicant or Licensee;  
3. related entity loans and/or investments owing to the Covenantor by an Applicant or Licensee. 
 
In the case of beneficiaries of trusts, net real unencumbered assets do not include any assets that are 
held on trust on behalf of the beneficiary unless there is a presently existing right under the trust for the 
beneficiary to call for transfer of the asset into the beneficiary’s name. 
 
• ‘Net Tangible Assets’ –  
Net Tangible Assets (NTA) is calculated using the following formula: 
 

NTA = (Entity’s Assets) - (Entity’s Liabilities) - (Entity’s Intangible Assets) 
 
• ‘Officer’ – 
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has the meaning given to it in the Associations Incorporation Act 1981. 
 
• ‘Related Entity Loans and Investments’ – 
means only Related Entity Loans and Investments that are collectible from Related Parties. 
 
• ‘Related Parties’ – 
means: 
(a) a director or shareholder of the entity; 
(b) a director of a body corporate that is a parent entity of the company; 
(c) a spouse or de facto spouse of such a director or person; 
(d) a parent, son, daughter, brother, sister, half brother or half sister of such a director or person;  
(e) spouse or de facto spouse of an entity over which; 
  i)  a person of a kind referred to in paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d) has control; or 
  ii)  2 or more such persons together have control; 
(f) a parent entity or sibling entity of the entity; 
(g) if a trust, the trustee, the trust beneficiaries and their spouse, de facto spouse, parent, son, 

daughter, brother, sister, half brother or half sister of that person; or 
(h) if an individual contractor, their spouse, de facto spouse, parent, son, daughter brother, sister, 

half brother or half sister of that person or any entities in which they are directors or 
shareholders. 

 
• ‘Revenue’ – 
Means the total income received, excluding: 
(a) Salary and/or wages received as an employee; and 
(b) GST collected as an agent, from which the Licensee obtains no benefit. 
 
• ‘Review Control Sheet’ – 
means the review control sheet contained this policy (Attachment 10). 
 
• ‘Trade Contractor’ – 
means an individual or company carrying out building work for which a trade licence is required under 
the Act. 
 

2. APPLYING THE MINIMUM PRESCRIBED REQUIREMENTS 

2.1 Applicability of this Policy 
 

For Applicants and Licensees providing Declarations this Policy is effective for any Declaration 
completed on or after 1 July 2006. 
 
For Applicants and Licensees who provide an Independent Review Report or Audit Report this Policy 
is effective for all Reports with a review year end date on or after 1 July 2006.  

2.2 Appropriately Qualified Person for Independent Review Report/Audit 
Report 

 
Restrictions apply to those Appropriately Qualified Persons permitted to complete Independent Review 
Reports and Audit Reports regarding the financial position of an Applicant or Licensee.   
 
An Appropriately Qualified Person is a person who is independent of the entity (ie not the Applicant or 
Licensee, and is not a director, secretary or employee of the Applicant or Licensee), and has the 
required qualifications for the AATO Category set out below: 
 
Table A – Appropriately Qualified Person Categories 
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QUALIFICATION ELIGIBLE TURNOVER 

CATEGORIES 

Registered company auditor holding professional indemnity 
insurance of at least $250,000 

Categories 1 to 8 

Holder of a current public practising certificate from the 
Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants (CPA) 

Categories 1 to 3 inclusive 

Holder of a current public practising certificate from the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia (ICAA) 

Categories 1 to 3 inclusive 

Holder of a current public practising certificate from the 
National Institute of Accountants (NIA) 

Categories 1 to 3 inclusive 

Holder of a current public practising certificate from the 
Association of Taxation and Management Accountants 
(ATMA) 

Categories 1 to 3 inclusive 

Holder of a current public practising certificate from the 
National Tax & Accountants Association (NTAA) 

Categories 1 to 3 inclusive 

Holder of at least Membership status of one of the above 
professional associations 

Category 1 Only 

Registered Tax Agent Category 1 Only 

Another Responsible Person – in extraordinary circumstances At the discretion of, and by prior 
approval of, the Authority 

 
All work must be performed in accordance with all applicable Australian Accounting and Auditing 
Standards, and other mandatory reporting requirements.  The Appropriately Qualified Person 
completing the Report may be required by the Authority to demonstrate suitable audit experience. 

2.2.1 Another Responsible Person 
 
Where the Independent Review Report is provided by ‘another responsible person’, details of the 
extraordinary circumstances and the reporter’s professional qualifications, audit experience (if any), 
business relationship and length of time of association with the Applicant or Licensee must be 
provided.  Approval as ‘another responsible person’ will only be given on a case by case basis. 

2.2.2 Notice to Appropriately Qualified Persons Completing Independent Review 
Reports 

 
This section will only apply to Licensees who are NOT required to be audited under Corporations Act 
2001 as they are a non-reporting entity, and who are submitting Independent Review Reports 
(Attachment 1, 3 or 4) in order to comply with this policy. 
 
The processes and utilisation of the Review Control Sheet (Attachment 10) is a minimum requirement 
only.  Licensees may opt to have their financial situation reviewed on a more onerous basis.   
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However, the Appropriately Qualified Person conducting the Review must still apply all relevant 
Australian Accounting Standards and policies where appropriate for the Licensee.  Where the 
mandatory standards and policies have not been applied in the preparation and presentation of the 
financial information and Report, the Appropriately Qualified Person must clearly state such details in 
the Report.   
 
All Independent Review Reports are to be prepared based on financial information of the business by 
an Appropriately Qualified Person.   
 
Independent Review Reports are required to be carried out by the Appropriately Qualified Person at 
the time of an initial licence application, on an annual renewal basis and from time to time as the need 
arises, in accordance with section 6 of this policy. A review of the Applicant or Licensee’s financial 
position is required to be conducted in order to provide the Independent Review Report.  An 
independent review is not an audit. 
 
To assist the Appropriately Qualified Person in their review, the following sample documents are 
provided and form part of this policy: 
  a draft client engagement letter 
  a draft client questionnaire, and 
  a draft review control sheet (Attachment 10). 
 (copies of these documents can be found on BSA’s website www.bsa.qld.gov.au) 
 
These documents provide guidance only to the Appropriately Qualified Person for reviewing Applicants 
or Licensees and have been drafted with reference to Auditing Standard AUS 902 ‘Review of Financial 
Reports’. 
 
An annotated Independent Review Report and Deed of Covenant and Assurance is also available at 
www.bsa.qld.gov.au to assist the Appropriately Qualified Person with the complete process and 
documents. 

2.2.3 Warning to Appropriately Qualified Persons  
 

Pursuant to section 53B of the Act it is an offence to provide the Authority with information that is 
knowingly false or misleading in circumstances where the person providing the financial report has not 
taken reasonable steps to ensure that the report was not false and misleading.  The Authority may 
choose to prosecute the person giving the financial report and the penalties may consist of either a 
fine, imprisonment or in certain circumstances a combination of both. 

 

2.2.4 Reporting Requirements by Appropriately Qualified Person 
 
Review Reporting means the Appropriately Qualified Person providing the Independent Review Report 
must make appropriate inquiries of the Applicant or Licensee, and seek evidence that is appropriate in 
the circumstances, in their professional opinion, to justify the information stated in the Independent 
Review Report or Audit Report  
 
The Appropriately Qualified Person providing the Independent Review Report must carry out the tests 
and checks referred to in the Review Control Sheet as a minimum requirement. 
 
The Audit Report is an opinion, based on Australian Auditing Standards and other mandatory financial 
reporting requirements, which reports upon a special purpose financial report using information 
contained in audited financial statements of the Applicant or Licensee.  
 
Independent Review Reports or Audit Reports will be deemed incomplete for assessment where they 
are qualified by disclaimer clauses (other than those already contained in the prescribed forms) by the 
Appropriately Qualified Person giving the report.  
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2.2.5 Implied Warranty by Appropriately Qualified Person 
 
Where an Applicant or Licensee is relying upon one or more Deeds of Covenant and Assurance to 
meet the financial requirements, the Appropriately Qualified Person signing the Report is warranting to 
the Authority they have conducted all reasonable checks into each Covenantor’s entire financial 
position to ensure they have Net Real Unencumbered Assets to cover the amount secured by the 
Deed.  
 
Where amounts are considered not collectible or have not been sufficiently evidenced with regard to 
their value or ownership, the Appropriately Qualified Person signing the Report must reduce the 
Covenantor’s total Net Real Unencumbered Asset position by that amount (eg Related Entity Loans). 
 
The Appropriately Qualified Person accepts that the Authority relies upon this warranty in order to 
grant, renew or maintain the entity’s licence. 

 

2.3 Allowable Annual Turnover 
 
The Allowable Annual Turnover (AATO) is calculated on the Net Tangible Asset (NTA) position of the 
Applicant or Licensee as stated in the Declaration, Independent Review Report or Audit Report 
provided to the Authority from time to time. 
 
The AATO of an entity providing an Independent Review Report or Audit Report will be calculated 
upon the entity’s personal NTA stated in the Report, in combination with amounts being assured by 
way of one or more Deeds of Covenant and Assurance. 
 
The AATO is calculated by applying the stated formula to the NTA of the entity, as set out in Table 1.   
The AATO will be restricted to the maximum AATO permitted for the type of Declaration or Report 
provided. 
 
The Authority will advise the Applicant or Licensee of its AATO for the forthcoming Licence Year upon 
granting or renewing the licence.  In instances where Declarations or Reports are provided at any other 
time, the Authority will advise the Licensee of its new AATO which will apply for the current Licence 
Year. 
 
The Allowable Annual Turnover issued will apply to the Licensee, in combination with the trust/s or 
partnership/s through which it is trading. 
 
Table B – Allowable Annual Turnover – Structure 
 
APPLICANT OR LICENSEE’S STRUCTURE ANNUAL TURNOVER APPLIED TO: 

Individual - sole trader  Individual only 

Company - trading as stand alone company  Company only 

Company - trading as part of a group of 
companies under ASIC Class Order 98/1418 or 
similar 

Consolidated group only 

Individual or Company – trading in partnership  Individual or Company in combination with 
partnership/s 

Individual or Company - acting as trustee  Individual or Company in combination with 
trust/s 
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Licensees may exceed their Allowable Annual Turnover level by up to 10% without being required to 
obtain prior approval from the Authority.   
 
Note:  All licences are subject to a condition that Licensees are not to exceed the Allowable Annual 
Turnover by more than 10% without first providing a new Declaration or Report which substantiates the 
Licensee has sufficient NTA to support a higher level of turnover (refer section 5).  

 

2.4 Net Tangible Assets 
 
Applicants and Licensees must have sufficient Net Tangible Assets (NTA) required for the level of 
Allowable Annual Turnover, as stated in Table 1.  This may be evidenced either through a Declaration 
completed by the Applicant or Licensee, or certified in the Independent Review Report or Audit Report 
completed by the Appropriately Qualified Person.   
 
In determining the entity’s NTA position, the person completing the Declaration or Report must 
consider the entity’s entire financial position, including related entities and those entities providing 
assurance of assets in order for the entity to meet the financial requirements. 
 
Where an entity does not have sufficient NTA in its own right for the level of turnover being sought or 
conducted (which ever is the highest) they may provide an Independent Review Report or Audit Report 
and rely upon a Deed of Covenant and Assurance from a related entity as stated in this policy. 
 
Note:  All licences are subject to a condition that the Licensee’s NTA position is not to decrease by 
more than 10% for more than one (1) month unless the Licensee provides a new Declaration or Report 
within 30 days of the expiration of the one (1) month period.  The Declaration or Report must 
substantiate the Licensee’s adjusted NTA position.  This includes a decrease in the Net Real 
Unencumbered Assets which have been assured to the Licensee by Deed of Covenant and 
Assurance.  

2.4.1 Negative Net Tangible Assets 
 
Applicants applying for a licence must have an NTA position in their own right of not less than $0.  
Those Applicants which have a negative (deficit) NTA position will not meet the Financial 
Requirements for Licensing and cannot rely upon a Deed of Covenant and Assurance to cover the 
deficiency.   

 
Existing Licensees, who prior to 1 July 2006, had a negative (deficit) NTA position, will be required to 
increase their NTA position to be not less than $0 by 1 July 2007.  Where a Licensee provides financial 
information for a year end 1 July 2007 or later, the Report must  evidence the Licensee does not have 
a negative NTA. This provision does not apply to entities where NTA is being supported by a Deed 
provided by a local, state or federal government instrumentality or agency. 

2.4.2 Net Tangible Asset to Allowable Annual Turnover Ratio 
 
Effective 1 July 2006, NTA levels for some financial Categories will vary each year. These changes will 
have an impact on a Licensee’s AATO. Applicant’s and Licensee’s AATO is to be calculated in 
accordance with the levels stated for the respective year in each of the Categories in accordance with 
Table 1.   
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2.4.3 Asset Valuations 
 

Individual Applicants and Licensees are permitted to value assets that are to be relied upon in support 
of Net Tangible Assets, provided those values can be substantiated.   

In the case of a company applicant or Licensee, the Directors are permitted to value assets that are to 
be relied upon in support of NTA, provided those values can be substantiated. 

Where any lack of substance as to the valuation is perceived by either the Appropriately Qualified 
Person preparing the Independent Review Report or Audit Report or the Authority, such valuations 
must be substantiated by a valuation by an accredited, registered or recognised valuer. 

In certain limited circumstances, deferred tax assets (future income tax benefits) may be included as 
an asset, provided the recoupment of the tax losses which gave rise to the future income tax benefits 
are considered as being virtually certain. 

Only the estimated net realisable amount of the entity’s assets should be brought to account.  All 
liabilities, intangible assets and disallowed assets of the entity must be deducted in calculating NTA in 
accordance with this policy. 

2.4.4 Related Entity Loans and Investments 
 
Related Entity Loans and Investments recorded as an asset in the entity’s accounts are not to be 
included or relied upon in determining the entity’s NTA, unless the Appropriately Qualified Person 
preparing the Independent Review Report or Audit Report has independently verified that the related 
entity loan or investment is collectible.  It is not sufficient for the Appropriately Qualified Person to 
accept the Directors advice without performing reasonable checks or tests. 
 
The Appropriately Qualified Person preparing the Report is required to notify on the Report that they 
have independently verified the collectibility of the Related Entity Loan or Investment. 

2.4.5 Assurance Of Assets By Deed Of Covenant And Assurance 
Applicants and Licensees providing a Declaration must have sufficient assets in their own right, and 
cannot rely on a Deed of Covenant and Assurance in order to meet the NTA requirements for SC1 
or SC2. 

Entities relying upon a Deed of Covenant and Assurance must provide an Independent Review 
Report or Audit Report, and must meet Category 1 requirements in accordance with Table 1, at a 
minimum. 

Where the Applicant or Licensee does not have sufficient NTA in its own right for the level of AATO 
required it may, dependent on the entity’s structure, rely upon a Deed of Covenant and Assurance 
based on the Net Real Unencumbered Assets of one or more of the following related entities, in 
order to meet the NTA requirement.  The Covenantor must have and maintain sufficient Net Real 
Unencumbered Assets in their own right to meet the value of the Defined Amount stated in the 
Independent Review Report or Audit Report.   

The Net Real Unencumbered Assets of the Covenantor cannot include any Related Entity Loans or 
Investments from the Licensee.  Refer section 1.3 Definition – Net Real Unencumbered Assets. 
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Table C – Possible Assurers 

APPLICANT OR LICENSEE’S STRUCTURE POSSIBLE ASSURERS 

Individual - sole trader  • Not Available  

Company – trading as stand alone company  • Directors of the Licensee 

• Associated company of the Licensee 

Company Licensee – trading as part of a group 
of companies  

• Directors of the Licensee 

• Associated company of the Licensee  

• Other companies in the group  

Individual or Company – trading in Partnership  • Other partners within the Partnership 

• Directors of the Licensee (if a company 
Licensee)  

• Associated company of the Licensee (if a 
company Licensee) 

Individual or Company - acting as trustee  • Beneficiaries of the trust administered by 
Licensee as Trustee 

• Directors of the Licensee (if a company 
Licensee) 

• Associated company of the Licensee (if a 
company Licensee) 

 
The Deed of Covenant and Assurance must be in the prescribed format as set out in this policy.  The 
original of the Deed will be required to be submitted to the Authority together with the Independent 
Review Report or Audit Report and will remain with the Authority while the entity continues to rely upon 
the Deed to meet the requirements.   
The Appropriately Qualified Person completing an Independent Review Report or Audit Report 
which relies on a Deed of Covenant and Assurance will be required to: 

• state in the appropriate space on the Report the full name and the relationship to the Licensee of 
each Covenantor,  

• state within the Report the defined amount that is secured by the Deed, or if more than one - 
each Deed; and 

• provide a Statement of Financial Position (Attachment 9) and any other appropriate 
documentation detailing each Covenantor’s financial position at the time the Report was signed, 
and be based on accounts no earlier than the year end date on which the Report has been 
based.   

The Statement of Financial Position must be verified by the Appropriately Qualified Person 
completing the Report signifying all reasonable checks have been made with regard to each 
Covenantors financial position, to ensure the existence, collectibility and unencumbered value of 
assets being assured to the entity. 
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Example:  

If the Licensee is relying on 30 June 2005 accounts for the purpose of the Report, the 
Covenantor’s Statement of Financial Position must be based on 30 June 2005 or later accounts.  

 
Where a Covenantor also holds a licence, the amount of Net Real Unencumbered Assets available for 
assurance must be reduced by the amount of NTA required by the Covenantor to maintain their 
personal licence. 

2.4.6 Updating Deeds of Covenant and Assurance 
Where a Licensee relies upon one or more Deeds of Covenant and Assurance and restructures its 
financial affairs, the Authority will return the Deed/s it holds once it has received an appropriately 
updated Independent Review Report or Audit Report and any Deeds of Assurance which are required 
to replace the Deed/s being returned. 

The Appropriately Qualified Person signing the new Report will be required to consider whether the 
Licensee is required to provide further Deeds of Assurance. 

2.4.7 Unconditional Undertakings (including Bank Guarantees) 
 
When unconditional undertakings (including bank guarantees) are issued to fund retentions or as 
additional security on a contract, a contingent liability arises. 
 
Contingent liabilities are generally not included within a balance sheet but are to be included in the 
notes to the accounts. 
 
Unconditional undertakings can usually be called up without authority from the person providing the 
guarantee. A contingent liability converts to a current liability when an unconditional undertaking is 
called up by the beneficiary. 
 
Where a current liability arises, the effect of the unconditional undertaking is shown in arriving at the 
NTA calculation. 
 
Where it is apparent that the Licensee may be in a position where any such unconditional undertakings 
may be exposed to being called up, the NTA of the Licensee may be reduced by the amount, or 
portion, of such contingent liabilities.  The Authority must be provided with an updated Report to reflect 
the new NTA position, where the current liability reduces NTA by more than 10%  for more than 1 
month (refer section 2.4) 
 

2.5 Ratio (Liquidity or Current) 
 

Applicants and Licensees who provide a Declaration (SC1 or SC2) in order to meet the requirements 
of this policy are not required to demonstrate they meet the ratio requirements. 
 
All other Applicants and Licensees must demonstrate they meet the minimum liquidity or current ratio 
levels as set in Tables E or F, according to the entity’s structure refer Table D.  Following approval of 
a licence application or renewal, all Licensees must continue to be able to meet the minimum liquidity 
or current ratio requirements at all times throughout the Licence Year.   
 
The Appropriately Qualified Person must verify in the Independent Review Report or Audit Report the 
entity has met the Ratio (Liquidity or Current) on the last date of the year on which the Report has been 
based. 



Financial Requirements for Licensing     
  

1 July 2006 

17

2.5.1 Determining Appropriate Current Assets And Current Liabilities 
Depending on the structure of the Applicant or Licensee, the liquidity or current ratio must be met from 
the current assets and current liabilities, as follows: 

Table D – Ratio – Structure 

APPLICANT OR LICENSEE’S STRUCTURE CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF: 

Individual - sole trader  Individual only 

Company - trading as stand alone company  Company only 

Company - trading as part of a group of 
companies under ASIC Class Order 98/1418 or 
similar 

Consolidated group only 

Individual or Company – trading in partnership  Individual or Company in combination with 
partnership/s 

Individual or Company - acting as trustee  Individual or Company in combination with 
trust/s 

 
A ratio less than the stated minimum requirement must not be rounded up. For example a current ratio 
of 0.9987:1 is less than 1:1 and does not meet the requirement where the minimum stated requirement 
is 1:1.  
 
Applicants and Licensees cannot include any amounts assured to them by way of a Deed of Covenant 
and Assurance in calculating the ratio. 

2.5.2 Ratio Formula 
 

 For the 12 months commencing 1 July 2006 – Applicants and Licensees must meet the minimum 
Ratio requirement calculated in accordance with at least one (1) of the following formula: 
 
Table E – Ratio Formula – from 1 July 2006 
 

RATIO FORMULA MINIMUM 
REQUIREMENT  

Liquidity 
Ratio

 
(Current Assets - Inventory)

(Current Liabilities - Current Financial Institution Facilities) 

 
 

0.8 : 1 

 
Current Ratio

 
Current Assets 

Current Liabilities 

 
1 : 1 

 
  
From 1 July 2007 – Applicants and Licensees must meet the minimum Current Ratio requirement 
calculated in accordance the following formula only: 
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Table F – Ratio Formula – from 1 July 2007 
 

CURRENT RATIO FORMULA MINIMUM REQUIREMENT 

 
Current Assets 

Current Liabilities 
 

 
1 : 1 

  

2.6 Financial Monitoring Requirements 
  
To comply with this requirement Applicants and Licensees must maintain internal management 
accounts (not required to be the subject of an Independent Review Report or Audit Report) which have 
been prepared at the following intervals:  
 
Table G – Monitoring Requirements  
 

CATEGORY MINIMUM INTERVAL 

Declaration – up to $100,000 Not Applicable 

Declaration – up to $300,000 Not Applicable 

Category 1 Yearly 

Category 2 Half Yearly 

Categories 3 to 8 Quarterly 

 
The internal management accounts are not required to be provided to the Authority unless requested, 
but must be provided to the Authority upon request. 
 

2.7 Prescribed Form 
All forms, including the Declarations, Independent Review Reports and Audit Report, are prescribed 
forms and are unable to be amended from the format stated within this policy, other than by completion 
of the relevant spaces. 
 
Declarations must be personally signed by the Applicant or Licensee.  Where the Applicant or 
Licensee is a company, only Directors and other Authorised Officers of the company may sign the 
Declaration. 
 
Independent Review Reports and Audit Reports may be completed by an Appropriately Qualified 
Person only as set out in section 2.2.  In completing the Reports, the Appropriately Qualified Person 
must comply with the: 
• Australian Auditing Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements when 

preparing Audit Reports; and 
• Australian Auditing Standards applicable to review engagements when preparing Independent 

Review Reports. 
 
With respect to a company that has been registered with the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission (ASIC) for less than 12 months, the Appropriately Qualified Person completing the Report 
may alter the Report to reflect the period being reported on is less than 12 months, with the review 
period commencing from the date of incorporation. 
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3. FINANCIAL INFORMATION REQUIRED ON LICENCE APPLICATION 
 

It is a requirement imposed by sections 31(1)(c) and 31(2)(c) of the Act that all Applicants for a licence 
must satisfy the financial requirements stated in the Board’s policy.  At the time of application, the 
Applicant must demonstrate it meets the requirements for the level of Allowable Annual Turnover being 
sought for the first Licence Year. 
 
The requirements which may be applied to the financial information are as follows, and calculated in 
accordance with Table 1: 
• Net Tangible Assets held by the Applicant; 
• Ratio (Liquidity or Current) calculated in accordance with one of the specified formulas, meeting 

the minimum requirement for that formula; 
• Financial Monitoring Requirements of internal management accounts;  
• Provision of the appropriate Declaration, Independent Review Report or Audit Report 

completed in accordance with this policy; and 
• Evidence of the appropriate current Professional Indemnity Insurance being held where the 

Applicant applies for the one or more of the following licence classes.  Refer to Section 9. 
• Building Design – Open 
• Building Design – Medium Rise 
• Building Design – Low Rise 
• Hydraulic Services Design 
• Site Classifier 
• Completed Residential Building Inspection 
• Termite Management – Chemical 
• Fire Detection Systems 
• Fire Equipment – Passive (Wall and Ceiling) 
• Fire Equipment – Passive (Penetration and Joint Ceiling) 
• Fire Equipment – Passive (Fire Doors and Fire Shutters) 
• Fire Fighting Appliances 
• Fire Hose Reels and Fire Hydrants 
• Fixed Fire Pump Sets 
• Fire Sprinkler Systems (Domestic and Residential) 
• Fire Sprinkler Systems (Other than Domestic and Residential) 
• Fire Suppression Systems – Special Hazards 

 

3.1 Existing Licensees Applying for New Licence 
Where an Applicant holds a current licence and the Applicant is not seeking to increase its Allowable 
Annual Turnover it may rely on the financial information provided as part of its renewal process to meet 
the Financial Requirements for Licensing. 
 
Existing Licensees applying for a Builder class of licence for the first time will need to provide financial 
information where it is reasonable to expect their current turnover will increase. 

 

3.2 Applying - Allowable Annual Turnover of $100,000 per annum and 
under 

This option is available to all Contractors, excluding Builder classes. 
 
Applicants who require an Allowable Annual Turnover of not more than $100,000 in the first licence 
year may submit a Declaration in accordance with this policy when making application for a licence.   
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• An Applicant must, at the time of application, declare to the Authority they have the required level 
of Net Tangible Assets (NTA) as stated in Table 1, and will not have a turnover of more than 
$100,000 per annum.  

 
• The declaration is to be made on either the Declaration – Allowable Annual Turnover under 

$100,000 per annum (Attachment 5), or by completing the appropriate Declaration within the 
Authority’s Individual, Company or Mutual Recognition Application Forms. 

 
• The Applicant must have at least $6,000 NTA in its own right.  An Applicant cannot rely on assets 

of another entity, or those assets held on trust, to meet this requirement.  If the Applicant does not 
have sufficient assets in its own right and must rely upon a Deed of Covenant and Assurance to 
meet the NTA requirement, then it must comply with Section 3.4. 

 
• Provide evidence of current Professional Indemnity Insurance (where appropriate for the class 

of licence) which complies with Section 9. 
 

3.3 Applying - Allowable Annual Turnover of $300,000 per annum and 
under 

 
Applicants who require an Allowable Annual Turnover of not more than $300,000 in the first licence 
year may submit a Declaration in accordance with this policy when making application for a licence.   
 
• An Applicant must, at the time of application, declare to the Authority they have the required level 

of Net Tangible Assets (NTA) as stated in Table 1, and will not have a turnover of more than 
$300,000 per annum.  

 
• The declaration is to be made on either the Declaration – Allowable Annual Turnover under 

$300,000 per annum (Attachment 6), or by completing the appropriate Declaration within the 
Authority’s Individual, Company or Mutual Recognition Application Form. 

 
• The Applicant must have at least $18,000 NTA in its own right.  An Applicant cannot rely on assets 

of another entity, or those assets held on trust, to meet this requirement.  If the Applicant does not 
have sufficient assets in its own right and must rely upon a Deed of Covenant and Assurance to 
meet the NTA requirement, then it must comply with Section 3.4. 

 
• Provide evidence of current Professional Indemnity Insurance (where appropriate for the class 

of licence) which complies with Section 9. 
 

3.4 Applying - Allowable Annual Turnover of $300,001 to $12million per 
annum (Categories 1 to 3) 

 
Applicants who require an Allowable Annual Turnover of between $300,001 and $12million per annum 
in the first licence year will need to have their financial information verified by an independent 
Appropriately Qualified Person (Section 2.2) and provide the relevant financial information in 
accordance with this policy. 
 
In providing the financial information, Applicants must have: 

 
• adequate Net Tangible Assets for the level of Allowable Annual Turnover required for the first 

licence year;  
 
• a minimum Ratio (Liquidity or Current) in accordance with one of the specified formulas; 
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• Internal Management Accounts which are able to be produced at required intervals, and be 
provided to the Authority upon request;  

 
• an Independent Review Report (Attachment 1) signed by an Appropriately Qualified Person; 

and 
 

• evidence of current Professional Indemnity Insurance (where appropriate for the class of 
licence) which complies with Section 9. 

3.4.1 Age Of Information Being Relied Upon 
 

The Applicant’s Allowable Annual Turnover (AATO) being sought for the first Licence Year will 
determine the financial Category the Applicant is seeking, and therefore the age of the information to 
be relied upon.  The Applicant is to provide the appropriate information to the Appropriately Qualified 
Person preparing the Report, in accordance with the following table: 
 
Table H – Age of Accounts – Applying – Categories 1 to 3 
 

 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 

 
AATO Category Age of Accounts to be no older than 

1  12 months 
2  7 months 
3  4 months 

 
The reference in the Table to ‘no older than’ refers to the time difference between the year end date 
the Report has been based on, and the date the Appropriately Qualified Person signs the Independent 
Review Report, and not any other date. 
 
The Report must have been signed no earlier than 30 days prior to the date the application is received 
by the Authority.  Reports dated any earlier than 30 days prior to the date of receipt will not be 
accepted by the Authority. 
 
Example 
 
An Applicant seeks an Allowable Annual Turnover within Category 2.  Therefore, the age of the 
information must be no older than 7 months at the time the Report is signed.  If the Applicant is relying 
on 30 June accounts, the Report must be signed by 31 January of the following year, and received by 
the Authority no later than 30 days after 31 January. 
 
The Report must be based on full 12 months accounts, irrespective of whether the Applicant has 
previously traded.  In cases where the Applicant is a company which has been incorporated for a 
period of less than 12 months, the Report may be based upon accounts from the date of incorporation.  

3.5 Applying - Allowable Annual Turnover of more than $12million per 
annum (Categories 4 to 8) 
 

Applicants who require an Allowable Annual Turnover of more than $12million per annum in the first 
licence year will need to have their financial information verified by an independent Appropriately 
Qualified Person (Section 2.6) and provide the relevant financial information in accordance with this 
policy. 
 
In providing the financial information, Applicants must have: 
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• adequate Net Tangible Assets for the level of Allowable Annual Turnover required for the 

first licence year;  
 
• a minimum Ratio (Liquidity or Current) in accordance with one of the specified formulas; 

 
• Internal Management Accounts which are able to be produced at required intervals, and be 

provided to the Authority upon request;  
 

• an Independent Review Report  or Audit Report signed by an Appropriately Qualified 
Person; 

 
• signed Financial Statements on which the Report has been based; and 

 
• evidence of current Professional Indemnity Insurance (where appropriate for the class of 

licence) which complies with Section 9. 

3.5.1 Age Of Information Being Relied Upon 
 

The Applicant’s Allowable Annual Turnover (AATO) being sought for the first Licence Year and 
whether the Applicant has been audited previously will determine the age of the accounts able to be 
relied upon, the type of Report required to be provided, and the Appropriately Qualified Person that 
may sign the Report  (refer Table A below and Section 2.2). 
 
Table I – Age of Accounts – Applying – Categories 4 to 8 

 
 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORTING – CATEGORIES 4 TO 8 
 

 
AUDIT REQUIREMENT 

 
REPORT TYPE 

REQUIRED 

 
Age Of Accounts To Be No 

Older Than 

Already audited Audit Report Most recent audited accounts 

Not previously audited but will be 
required to be audited in next 12 

months 

Independent Review 
Report – 1st Year Only 3 months 

Exempt from audit requirements Independent Review 
Report – Audit Exempt 3 months 

 
Applicants are required to provide information no older than that stated above to the Appropriately 
Qualified Person for the preparation of the Report.  The reference in the Table to ‘no older than’ refers 
to the time difference between the year end date the Report has been based on, to the date the 
Appropriately Qualified Person signs Report, and not any other date. 
 
The Report must have been signed no earlier than 30 days prior to the date the application is received 
by the Authority.  Reports dated any earlier than 30 days prior will not be accepted by the Authority. 
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Example 
 
An Applicant seeks an Allowable Annual Turnover within Category 4 and has not previously been 
audited.  Therefore, the age of the information must be no older than 3 months at the time the 
Independent Review Report is signed.  If the Applicant is relying on 30 June accounts, the Report must 
be signed by 30 September of the same year, and be received by the Authority within 30 days of 30 
September. 
 
The Report must be based on 12 months accounts, irrespective of whether the Applicant has 
previously traded, except in the case of a company incorporated for less than 12 months at the time of 
review being conducted.  In cases where the Applicant has been incorporated for a period of less than 
12 months, the Report must be based upon accounts from the date of incorporation.  

3.5.2 Previously Audited Applicants 
 
Where the Applicant is currently subject to an ASIC audit requirement, it must provide an Audit Report 
based on the most recently audited financial statements.  These accounts may be more than 3 months 
in age.  A copy of the signed audited financial statements on which the Report is based must 
accompany the Audit Report.  
 

(i) Stand Alone Companies – 
Where the Applicant is operating as a stand alone company, the Audit Report is to be based on 
the company in its own right. 

 
(ii) Consolidated companies –  

Where the Applicant is a company operating within a group of companies, and is party to a 
Deed of Cross Guarantee (ASIC Class Order 98/1418) the Audit Report is to be based on 
either: 
• the consolidated group of companies; 
• the “closed group” of companies, being only those companies subject to the Deed of Cross 

Guarantee; or 
• the Applicant in its own right as a stand alone company. 

 
The Applicant will be required to provide evidence the Class Order was in place for the period 
of review on which the Report is based, and continues to be in place for the forthcoming 
Licence Year. 

3.5.3 Applicants Not Yet Audited but Required to be Audited Next Financial Year 
 
Where the Applicant has not been audited previously, but will be subject to ASIC audit requirements 
within the following 12 months, it must provide an Independent Review Report – 1st Year Only 
(Attachment 3) based on 12 months accounts no older than 3 months in age.  A copy of the signed 
financial statements on which the Report is based must accompany the Report.  The Statement of the 
Appointment of an Auditor must be also be completed. 
 

(i) Stand Alone companies – 
Where the Applicant is operating as a stand alone company, the Independent Review Report – 
1st Year Only is to be based on the company in its own right. 
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(ii) Consolidated companies –  
Where the Applicant is a company operating within a group of companies, and is party to a 
Deed of Cross Guarantee (ASIC Class Order 98/1418 or similar) the Independent Review 
Report – 1st Year Only is to be based on either: 
• the consolidated group of companies; 
• the “closed group” of companies, being only those companies subject to the Deed of Cross 

Guarantee; or  
• the Applicant in its own right as a stand alone company. 
 
The Applicant will be required to provide evidence the Class Order was in place for the period 
of review on which the Report is based, and continues to be in place for the forthcoming 
Licence Year. 

3.5.4 Applicants Not Required to be Audited – Exempt 
 
Where the Applicant is not currently subject to ASIC audit requirements and will continue to be relieved 
from such requirements under Corporations Act 2001 in the following 12 months, it may provide an 
Independent Review Report – Audit Exemption (Attachment 4) based on 12 months accounts no 
older than 3 months in age.  A copy of the signed financial statements on which the Report is based 
must accompany the Report.  The Statement of Exemption must be also be completed by the person 
completing the Report. 
 
Note: The Authority reserves the right to refuse the exemption, and may require the company to 
comply with full audit requirements, and provide an Audit Report based on accounts no older than 3 
months in age.  Where an exemption is refused by the Authority, written notice of the audit requirement 
will be issued. 
 
In considering the validity of an exemption, the Authority will consider whether the Applicant is 
currently, or will be, subject to audit requirements pursuant to Section 45A(3) of the Corporations Act 
2001, and one of the following: 
• Individuals  
• Small proprietary companies  
• Large Proprietary companies with Class Order 98/1417 or similar 
• Overseas companies  

 
Where an Applicant has obtained relief from ASIC audit requirements under Class Order 98/1417 or 
similar, evidence the Class Order was in place for the period of review must be provided with the 
Report. 

3.5.5 Overseas Companies 
 
Where the Applicant is based overseas and does not have its financial accounts audited by an 
Australian Auditor, the Applicant may rely upon an Independent Review Report – Audit Exemption  
(Attachment 4) with any appropriate qualifications as agreed to by the Authority, signed by an 
Australian Registered Company Auditor. 
 
• The Financial Information stated in the Report must be in Australian Dollar (AUD) equivalents.   
• If the company is audited overseas, it may rely on its last audited accounts, which may be more 

than 3 months in age. 
• If the company is not audited overseas, it must provide a Report based on 12 months accounts no 

older than 3 months in age. 
 

A copy of the financial statements for the respective period in review must be provided with the Report, 
and must be translated into English. The Statement of Exemption must be also be completed by the 
person completing the Report. 
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4. FINANCIAL INFORMATION REQUIRED ON LICENCE RENEWAL 
 
It is a requirement imposed by section 53A of the Act that the relevant financial information must be 
provided in order to renew a licence, and such information must be in accordance with this policy.   
 
All Licensees are required to provide the Authority with their financial information in accordance with 
this policy by their renewal date.  Failure to provide the information which complies with the policy may 
result in the suspension or cancellation of the licence. 
 
The requirements which may be applied to the financial information are as follows, and calculated in 
accordance with Table 1: 
• Net Tangible Assets held by the Licensee; 
• Ratio (Liquidity or Current) calculated in accordance with one of the specified formula, and 

meets the minimum requirement for that formula; 
• Financial Monitoring Requirements of internal management accounts; and 
• Provision of the appropriate Declaration, Independent Review Report or Audit Report 

completed in accordance with this policy. 
• Evidence of the appropriate current Professional Indemnity Insurance being held where the 

Licensee holds one or more of the following licence classes.  Refer to Section 9. 
• Building Design – Open 
• Building Design – Medium Rise 
• Building Design – Low Rise 
• Hydraulic Services Design 
• Site Classifier 
• Completed Residential Building Inspection 
• Termite Management – Chemical 
• Fire Detection Systems 
• Fire Equipment – Passive (Wall and Ceiling) 
• Fire Equipment – Passive (Penetration and Joint Ceiling) 
• Fire Equipment – Passive (Fire Doors and Fire Shutters) 
• Fire Fighting Appliances 
• Fire Hose Reels and Fire Hydrants 
• Fixed Fire Pump Sets 
• Fire Sprinkler Systems (Domestic and Residential) 
• Fire Sprinkler Systems (Other than Domestic and Residential) 
• Fire Suppression Systems – Special Hazards 

4.1 Renewing - Allowable Annual Turnover of $100,000 per annum and 
under 

This option is available to all Contractors, excluding Builder classes. 
 
Licensees who require an Allowable Annual Turnover of not more than $100,000 for the next licence 
year may submit a Declaration in accordance with this policy when renewing a licence.   
 

• A Licensee must, at the time of licence renewal, declare to the Authority they have the required 
minimum in Net Tangible Assets (NTA)  as stated in Table 1, and will not have a turnover of 
more than $100,000 per annum.  

 
• The declaration is to be made by either completing the Declaration – Allowable Annual 

Turnover under $100,000 per annum (Attachment 5), the appropriate Declaration within the 
Renewal Notice issued to the Licensee, or by making verbal declaration to an Authority Officer. 
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• The Licensee must have at least $6,000 NTA in its own right.  A Licensee cannot rely on 
assets of another entity, or those assets held on trust, to meet this requirement.  If the Licensee 
does not have sufficient assets in its own right and must rely upon a Deed of Covenant and 
Assurance to meet the NTA requirement, then the Licensee is not eligible to provide a 
Declaration and must comply with Section 4.3. 

 
• Provide evidence of current Professional Indemnity Insurance (where appropriate for the 

class of licence) which complies with Section 9. 
 

4.2 Renewing - Allowable Annual Turnover of $300,000 per annum and 
under 

Licensees who require an Allowable Annual Turnover of not more than $300,000 for the next licence 
year may submit a Declaration in accordance with this policy when renewing a licence.   
 
• A Licensee must, at the time of licence renewal, declare to the Authority that they have the 

required minimum in Net Tangible Assets (NTA) as stated in Table 1, and will not have a turnover 
of more than $300,000 per annum.  
 

• The declaration is to be made by either completing the Declaration – Allowable Annual 
Turnover under $300,000 per annum (Attachment 6), the appropriate Declaration within the 
Renewal Notice issued to the Licensee, or by making verbal Declaration to an Authority Officer. 
 

• The Licensee must have at least $18,000 NTA in its own right.  A Licensee cannot rely on assets 
of another entity, or those assets held on trust, to meet this requirement.  If the Licensee does not 
have sufficient assets in its own right and must rely upon a Deed of Covenant and Assurance to 
meet the NTA requirement, then the Licensee is not eligible to provide a Declaration and must 
comply with Section 4.3. 
 

• Provide evidence of current Professional Indemnity Insurance (where appropriate for the class 
of licence) which complies with Section 9. 

 

4.3  Renewing - Allowable Annual Turnover of $300,001 to $12million per 
annum (Categories 1 to 3) 
 

Licensees who require an Allowable Annual Turnover of between $300,001 and $12million per annum 
in the next licence year will need to have their financial information verified by an independent 
Appropriately Qualified Person (Section 2.6) and provide the relevant financial information in 
accordance with this policy. 
 
In providing the financial information, Licensees must have: 

 
• adequate Net Tangible Assets for the level of Allowable Annual Turnover required for the 

first licence year;  
 
• a minimum Ratio (Liquidity or Current) in accordance with the specified formula; 

 
• Internal Management Accounts which are able to be produced at required intervals, and be 

provided to the Authority upon request;  
 

• an Independent Review Report (Attachment 1) signed by an Appropriately Qualified Person; 
and 
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• evidence of current Professional Indemnity Insurance (where appropriate for the class of 
licence) which complies with Section 9. 

4.3.1 Age Of Information Being Relied Upon 
 

The Licensee’s Actual Annual Turnover for the 12 months on which the Report is to be based will 
determine the age of the accounts able to be relied upon and the Appropriately Qualified Person that 
may sign the Independent Review Report (refer Table A and Section 2.2). 
 
The Actual Annual Turnover determines the Licensee’s financial Category, and therefore the age of the 
information able to be relied upon.  The Licensee is to provide the appropriate information to the 
person preparing the Report, in accordance with the following table: 
 
Table J – Age of Accounts – Renewing – Categories 1 to 3 
 

 
ACTUAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 

 
Actual Category Age of Accounts to be no older than 

1  12 months 
2  7 months 
3  4 months 

 
Licensees are required to provide information no older than that stated above to the Appropriately 
Qualified Person for the preparation of the Report.  The reference in the Table to ‘no older than’ refers 
to the time difference between the year end date the Report has been based on, and the date the 
Appropriately Qualified Person signs the Independent Review Report, and not any other date. 
 
The Report may be prepared and signed by the Appropriately Qualified Person up to 30 days prior to 
the renewal due date stated on the Renewal Notice but will not be accepted by the Authority if it is 
prepared any earlier than that. 
 
Example 
 
Licensee’s Actual Annual Turnover falls within Category 2.  Therefore, the age of the information must 
be no older than 7 months at the time the Report is signed.  If the Licensee is relying on 30 June 
accounts, the Report must be signed by 31 January of the following year. 
 
The Report must be based on 12 months accounts, except in the case of a company incorporated for 
less than 12 months at the time of review being conducted.  In cases where the Licensee has been 
incorporated for a period of less than 12 months, the Report may be based upon accounts from the 
date of incorporation.  

 

4.4 Renewing - Allowable Annual Turnover of more than $12million per 
annum (Categories 4 to 8) 

Licensees who have an Allowable Annual Turnover, or require an Allowable Annual Turnover, of more 
than $12million per annum in the next licence year will need to have their financial information verified 
by an independent Appropriately Qualified Person (Section 2.2) and provide the relevant financial 
information in accordance with this policy. 
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In providing the financial information, Licensees must have: 
 

• adequate Net Tangible Assets for the level of Allowable Annual Turnover required for the 
first licence year;  

 
• a minimum Ratio (Liquidity or Current) in accordance with one of the specified formulas; 

 
• Internal Management Accounts which are able to be produced at required intervals, and be 

provided to the Authority upon request;  
 

• an Independent Review Report  or Audit Report signed by an Appropriately Qualified 
Person; 

 
• signed Financial Statements on which the Report has been based; and 

 
• evidence of current Professional Indemnity Insurance (where appropriate for the class of 

licence) which complies with Section 9. 

4.4.1 Age Of Information Being Relied Upon 
 

Licensees who require an Allowable Annual Turnover of more than $12million for the next Licence 
Year, or have an Actual Annual Turnover of more than $12million, must provide either an 
Independent Review Report – 1st Year Only or Audit Report signed by an Appropriately Qualified 
Person (Section 2.2) based on accounts no older than that stated in the following Table. 
 
Table K – Age of Accounts – Renewing – Categories 4 to 8 
 

 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORTING – CATEGORIES 4 TO 8 

 
 

AUDIT REQUIREMENT 
 

REPORT TYPE 
REQUIRED 

 
Age Of Accounts To Be No 

Older Than 

Already audited – on 1st renewal 
of licence Audit Report 

Most recent audited accounts 
(Licensee required to change 

next renewal date) 

Already audited - 2nd or later 
renewal Audit Report 3 months 

Not previously audited but will be 
required to be audited in next 12 

months 

Independent Review 
Report – 1st Year Only 3 months 

Exempt from audit requirements Independent Review 
Report – Audit Exempt 3 months 

 
The Report may be prepared and signed by the Appropriately Qualified Person up to 30 days prior to 
the renewal due date stated on the Renewal Notice but will not be accepted by the Authority if it is 
prepared any earlier than that. 
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On 1st Renewal of Licence - For those Licensees who have previously been audited, and the current 
renewal is the first anniversary of the granting of the licence, they may rely on the most recently 
audited accounts for the current renewal, even though they may be more than 3 months in age, 
provided the Licensee also changes its future renewal date to be no more than 3 months from the end 
of its usual audit year end date (refer to Section 5.2.1) 
 
For all other Renewals - Licensees are required to provide information no older than that stated 
above to the Appropriately Qualified Person for the preparation of the Report.  The reference in the 
Table to ‘no older than’ refers to the time difference between the year end date the Report has been 
based on, to the date the Appropriately Qualified Person signs Report, and not any other date. 
 
Example: 
 
Licensee’s Actual Annual Turnover falls within Category 4.  Therefore, the age of the information must 
be no older than 3 months at the time the Report is signed.  If the Licensee is relying on 30 June 
accounts, the Report must be signed by 30 September of the current year. 
 
The Report must be based on 12 months accounts, irrespective of whether the Licensee has 
previously traded, except in the case of a company incorporated for less than 12 months at the time of 
review being conduct  

4.4.2 Previously Audited Licensees 
 
Where the Licensee is currently subject to an ASIC audit requirement, it must provide an Audit Report 
based on 12 months audited financial statements no older than those stated in Table K above.  A copy 
of the audited and signed financial statements on which the Report is based must accompany the 
Audit Report.  
 

(i) Stand Alone Companies – 
Where the Licensee is operating as a stand alone company, the Audit Report is to be based on 
the company in its own right. 

 
(ii) Consolidated companies –  

Where the Licensee is a company operating within a group of companies, and is party to a 
Deed of Cross Guarantee (ASIC Class Order 98/1418) the Audit Report is to be based on 
either: 
• the consolidated group of companies; 
• the “closed group” of companies, being only those companies subject to the Deed of Cross 

Guarantee; or 
• the Applicant in its own right as a stand alone company. 

 
The Licensee will be required to provide evidence the Class Order was in place for the period 
of review on which the Report is based. 

4.4.3 Licensees Not Previously Audited but Required to be Audited Next Financial 
Year 

 
Where the Licensee has not previously been audited, but will be subject to ASIC audit requirements 
within the following 12 months, it must provide an Independent Review Report – 1st Year Only 
(Attachment 3) based on 12 months accounts no older than 3 months in age.  A copy of the signed 
financial statements on which the Report is based must accompany the Report.   
 
A registered company auditor must be nominated on the Report, and on the next renewal of the licence, 
an Audit Report will be required to be provided to the Authority. 
 

(i) Stand Alone companies – 
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Where the Licensee is operating as a stand alone company, the Independent Review Report – 
1st Year Only is to be based on the company in its own right. 

 
(ii) Consolidated companies –  

Where the Licensee is a company operating within a group of companies, and is party to a 
Deed of Cross Guarantee (ASIC Class Order 98/1418 or similar) the Independent Review 
Report – 1st Year Only is to be based on either: 
• the consolidated group of companies; 
• the “closed group” of companies, being only those companies subject to the Deed of Cross 

Guarantee; or  
• the Licensee in its own right as a stand alone company. 

 
The Licensee will be required to provide evidence the Class Order was in place for the period 
of review on which the Report is based. 

4.4.4 Licensees Not Required to be Audited - Exempt 
 
Where the Licensee is not currently subject to ASIC audit requirements and will continue to be relieved 
from such requirements, it must provide an Independent Review Report – Audit Exemption 
(Attachment 4) based on 12 months accounts no older than 3 months in age.  A copy of the signed 
financial statements on which the Report is based must accompany the Report.  The Statement of 
Exemption within the Report must be also be completed by the person completing the Report. 
 
Note: The Authority reserves the right to refuse the exemption, and may require the company to 
comply with full audit requirements, and provide an Audit Report based on accounts no older than 3 
months in age.  Where an exemption is refused by the Authority, written notice of the audit requirement 
will be issued to the Licensee advising the need to comply with Section 4.4.2. 
 
In considering the validity of an exemption, the Authority will consider whether the Licensee is 
currently, or will be, subject to audit requirements pursuant to Section 45A(3) of the Corporations Act 
1991, and one of the following: 
• Individuals  
• Small proprietary companies  
• Large Proprietary companies with Class Order 98/1417 or similar 
• Overseas companies  

 
Where a Licensee has obtained relief from ASIC audit requirements under Class Order 98/1417 or 
similar, evidence the Class Order was in place for the period of review must be provided with the 
Report. 

4.4.5 Overseas Companies 
 
Where the Licensee is based overseas and does not have its financial accounts audited by an 
Australian Auditor, the Licensee may rely upon an Independent Review Report – Audit Exemption  
(Attachment 4) with any appropriate qualifications as agreed to by the Authority, signed by an 
Australian Registered Company Auditor. 
 
• The Financial Information stated in the Report must be in Australian Dollar (AUD) equivalents.   
 
• If the company is audited overseas, it may rely on its audited accounts, which may be no more 

than 3 months in age. 
 

• If the company is not audited overseas, it must provide a Report based on 12 months accounts no 
older than 3 months in age. 
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A copy of the financial statements for the respective period in review must be provided with the Report, 
and must be translated into English. 

4.4.6 Extensions of Time 
 
Licensees who are subject to ASIC audit requirements, and who are anticipating or experiencing 
delays in the completion of the audit, may submit (in writing) a request for an extension of time to 
provide the Audit Report.  The request must be received prior to the expiration of the renewal due date 
stated on the renewal notice, or any other due date as advised by the Authority.  
 
Subsequent requests for extensions of time to provide an Audit Report must also be in writing and 
must be accompanied by a copy of the draft financial statements. 
 
The Authority may grant an extension of time on this basis for a specified period only, and will advise 
the Licensee of the due date.  The Authority reserves the right to reject any request for an extension of 
time. 
 

5. CHANGE OF RENEWAL DATE 
 
At the time of renewal, Licensees may elect to change their future renewal date to enable them to rely 
on their usual financial year end accounts.  The appropriate date of alignment of their renewal date will 
depend on the Category of their Allowable Annual Turnover (AATO) and the date on which their 
financial year usually ends. 
 
Note: Licensees who renew their licence by providing a Declaration are unable to change their future 
renewal date.  Only those Licensees whose AATO falls within Categories 1 to 8 may seek to alter their 
renewal date. 
 
Where a Licensee seeks to change their renewal date, they must confirm their request in writing and 
remit the appropriate proportionate annual licence fees for renewal period.  Where the change of 
renewal date means the licence will be renewed for period of more than 12 months, the additional 
annual licence fees must be paid prior to the change of date being approved.  
 
Licensees may complete and return Attachment 7 – Request to Change Renewal Date in order to 
confirm the request. 
 
Licensees are required to provide the relevant financial information in accordance with this policy at their 
existing renewal date and their altered renewal date.  Renewal dates cannot be realigned at the time of 
application. 
 
A Licensee who has previously changed their renewal date in order to comply with the timeframe for 
reporting requirements based on a higher AATO will not be permitted to change their renewal date back 
to a later period. 
 
The Authority has the right to refuse any request to alter a renewal date.  
 

5.1 Change of Renewal Date – Categories 1 to 3 
Licensees in Categories 1 to 3 (AATO of between $300,001 and $12million), at the time of renewal, may 
be given the option to alter their next renewal date. If a Licensee chooses to alter its renewal date, the 
Authority may select a new renewal date randomly chosen within the following time frames, assuming 
the Licensee relies on a 30 June financial year end: 
 
Table L – Change of Renewal Date Timeframes – Categories 1 to 3 
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CHANGE OF RENEWAL DATE – CATEGORIES 1 TO 3 

 
Category 1 1 February to 30 June 

Category 2 1 November to 31 January 

Category 3 1 September to 31 October 

 
Licensees with an existing renewal date which is within 3 months from the above time frames will be 
given an altered renewal date within the following 12 month time frame (but not more than 15 months 
from their existing renewal date). 
 
If a Licensee has a financial year end other than 30 June, they may request a change to their renewal 
date to an alternative date, chosen by the Authority. The Authority will advise the Licensee of their 
altered renewal date and their revised renewal fee. 

5.2 Change of Renewal Date – Categories 4 to 8 
A Licensee that falls into Categories 4 to 8 (AATO of more than $12million) at the time of its renewal 
may request the Authority to alter its renewal date to a date no older than 3 months after the end of the 
Licensee’s financial year end, as follows: 
 
Table M – Change of Renewal Date Timeframes – Categories 4 to 8 
 

CHANGE OF RENEWAL DATE – CATEGORIES 4 to 8 

Financial Year Ending Date New Renewal Date 

30 June 30 September 

30 September 31 December 

31 December 31 March 

31 March 30 June 

 
 
A Licensee in Categories 4 to 8 cannot renew a licence for less than 12 months, and not more than 24 
months.  The request must be made to the Authority on the prescribed form (Attachment 7 – Request 
to Change Renewal Date) and the proportionate annual licence fees for the additional renewal period 
based on the Category 4 to 8 annual licence fee rate. 

5.2.1 Audited Licensees  
 
If the Licensee’s financial statements are already the subject of an audit, the Licensee will be required to 
provide an Audit Report based on the last audited financial statements even though they may be more 
than 3 months in age, and the Attachment 7 – Request to Change Renewal Date. 
 
The licence will be renewed subject to an interim financial reporting requirement in which they will be 
required to provide a further Audit Report based on their next audited financial statements if the renewal 
period is more than 15 months.   
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Example: 
 

 XYZ Pty Ltd currently renews its licence on 31 March 2005.  It operates on a 1 July – 30 June financial 
year, and relies on 30 June audited accounts.  It wishes to change its renewal date to 30 September 
2006 so its future renewal date is no more than 3 months from the end of its usual financial year end 
date.   

 
XYZ Pty Ltd is required to provide the following information to satisfy the Financial Requirements for 
Licensing: 
• For the current renewal (31 March 2005) - an Audit Report based on the last set of audited 

financial statements (ie: 30 June previous 2004); 
• On interim financial reporting requirement (30 September 2005) - an Audit Report based on the 

audited financial statements for the current year (ie: 30 June 2005); and 
• On next renewal (30 September 2006) - an Audit Report based on the audited financial statements 

at the time of its next renewal  (ie: 30 June 2006). 

5.2.2 Unaudited Licensees  
 
If the Licensee’s financial statements have not previously been audited, the Licensee will be required to 
provide at the time of the request to change renewal date, the appropriate Independent Review Report 
(for Categories 4-8) based on financial statements not more than 3 months in age. 
 
The licence will be renewed subject to an interim financial reporting requirement in which they will be 
required to provide a further Independent Review Report or Audit Report if the renewal period is more 
than 15 months.  The interim Report must be based on financial statements for the next year ending 
date which is the usual financial reporting date (eg 30 June). 
 
Example: 
 
ABC Pty Ltd currently renews its licence on 31 January 2005.  It wishes to rely on its financial year 
accounts of 30 June for future renewals.  It wishes to change its renewal date to 30 September 2006. 
As the renewal period will be more than 15 months (from January 2005 to September 2006) and ABC 
Pty Ltd’s financial statements had not previously been the subject of an audit, ABC Pty Ltd would be 
required to provide the following information in satisfaction of the Financial Requirements for Licensing: 
• For current renewal (31 January 2005) - an Independent Review Report for a year ended no more 

than 3 months earlier (ie: 31 October 2004); 
• On interim financial reporting requirement (30 September 2005)  - an Independent Review Report 

based on financial statements for a year ended no more than 3 months earlier than 30 September 
2005 (ie: 30 June 2005); and 

• On next renewal (30 September 2006) – either an Audit Report or Independent Review Report – 
Audit Exemption based on financial statements at the time of its next renewal (ie: 30 June 2006). 

   

6. FINANCIAL INFORMATION REQUIRED AT TIMES OTHER THAN AT 
APPLICATION OR RENEWAL  

 
Licensees may be required to provide the Authority with financial information, in accordance with this 
policy, at times other than on application or renewal of a licence.  Where such information is required, it 
must be provided in order to ensure compliance with this policy. Reports prepared and signed any 
earlier than 30 days prior to the date of receipt by the Authority will not be accepted. 

6.1 Compliance Audit 
Pursuant to section 50C of the Act, the Authority may give written notice to a Licensee requiring 
delivery of, or access to, specified financial records in circumstances where the Licensee is selected to 
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be audited under an approved compliance audit program or where the Authority is satisfied, because 
of information received, that there are reasonable grounds for concern that the Licensee does not 
satisfy the financial requirements stated in this policy.   
 
The financial records stated in the Authority’s written notice must be only the financial records of the 
Licensee that the Authority reasonably requires to decide whether the Licensee satisfies the financial 
requirements stated in this policy. 
 
Note: If Licensees do not comply with the Authority’s written notice within 21 days, the Licensee may 
be subject to disciplinary proceedings.  Licensees will also be taken to have contravened a condition 
imposed on the licence and the Authority may suspend or cancel the licence.  

6.2 Adjustment of Allowable Annual Turnover 
Pursuant to section 35 of the Act, it is a condition that Licensees must not exceed their last issued 
Allowable Annual Turnover (AATO) by more than 10% without first providing the Authority with 
appropriate financial information. 
 
To adjust the AATO to a higher level, the Licensee must submit either an Independent Review Report 
or Audit Report which complies with the higher level of AATO they are seeking.  The financial 
information provided must substantiate the Licensee has sufficient NTA to support the higher level of 
annual turnover. 
 
Example: 
 
Z Pty Ltd has a current AATO of $3million.  Its licence renewal is not due until 30 October.  It 
anticipates it will exceed its AATO by more than 10% by the end of the current financial year, and will 
require an AATO of $5million. In order to increase its AATO and comply with the Financial 
Requirements for Licensing, it must provide: 
• Now - an Independent Review Report based on accounts for year ended no older than 4 months in 

age, and signed not more than 30 days prior to receipt by the Authority  
• On next renewal – an Independent Review Report in compliance with Section 4. 
 
In the event a Licensee exceeds its AATO by more than 10% without first providing the financial 
information and being issued a new AATO, the Licensee will have breached a condition of licence.  
This may result in the suspension or cancellation of the licence.  Licensees may also be subject to 
disciplinary proceedings pursuant to the Act.  

6.3 Adjustment of Net Tangible Assets 
Pursuant to section 35 of the Act, it is a condition that Licensees must not allow their Net Tangible 
Asset (NTA) position to decrease by more than 10% for more than 1 month, unless they provide the 
Authority with appropriate financial information within 30 days of the end of the 1 month period.   
 
This includes a decrease in the net real unencumbered assets being assured to the Licensee by way 
of Deed of Covenant and Assurance. 
 
A decrease in NTA will result in a decrease of AATO of the Licensee, and therefore the Licensee must 
ensure it has sufficient NTA in its own right or in combination of amounts being assured by way of 
Deed to satisfy NTA requirements relative to the required AATO. 
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To adjust the NTA, the Licensee must submit either an Independent Review Report or Audit Report 
which reflects the new NTA position of the Licensee.  The age of the accounts would be based on 
either the Category in which the Actual Annual Turnover places them, or the Allowable Annual 
Turnover the Licensee is seeking – whichever is the highest. 
 
The adjusted AATO, based on the Licensee’s new financial position, will be advised to the Licensee 
based on the new NTA position for the current Licence Year. 
 
In the event a Licensee has a decrease in NTA by more than 10% for more than one (1) month, and 
does not provide the relevant financial information within the specified time frame stated in this 
provision, the Licensee will have breached a condition of licence.  This may result in the suspension or 
cancellation of the licence.  Licensees may also be subject to disciplinary proceedings pursuant to the 
Act.  

6.4 Restructure of Licensee 
Where a Licensee undertakes a restructure in relation to its ownership, management or financial 
structure, updated financial information may be required to satisfy the Authority the Licensee continues 
to comply with this policy.   Restructures will usually result in a change to the Licensee’s financial 
position from that last advised to the Authority. 
 
Such restructures may include, but are not limited to: 
• Changes of Ownership or Officeholders; 
• Restructure to partnership or trust structure; 
• Change or withdrawal of Covenantors. 

 
In instances where a restructure has occurred, the Licensee must provide either a Declaration, 
Independent Review Report or Audit Report, and if necessary new Deed/s of Covenant and 
Assurance, which reflect the Licensee’s new business structure or financial position.  The Declaration 
or Report must comply with the same requirements as if the Licensee was renewing its licence 
(Section 4). 
 
Upon receipt of the financial information which meets the requirements of the policy, the adjusted 
Allowable Annual Turnover based on the Licensee’s new financial position will be advised to the 
Licensee, based on the new NTA position for the current Licence Year. 
 

7. ASSESSMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION BY THE AUTHORITY  
The Authority has the right to assess Applicants and Licensees financial information at the times set 
out below: 
• on application for a licence; 
• at renewal; 
• on compliance audit; 
• where the Allowable Annual Turnover requires adjustment; 
• where the Net Tangible Asset position has decreased by more than 10%; 
• on receipt by the Authority of information that satisfies it there are reasonable grounds for concern 

that the Licensee does not satisfy the financial requirements; 
• pursuant to an approved audit program 
• on expiry of the Licensee’s Professional Indemnity Insurance Policy;  
• on request by the Licensee; or 
• at the discretion of the Authority. 
 
The assessment of the Declaration, Independent Review Report or Audit Report will result in one of 
the following outcomes: 
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7.1 Minimum NTA and Ratio (if applicable) requirements met 
Where the minimum NTA and Ratio (if applicable) requirements have been met in accordance with this 
policy, the Applicant or Licensee will be notified by the Authority in writing that it meets the financial 
requirements stated in this policy and will be notified of the Licensee’s NTA and AATO for the next 
Licence Year. 

7.2 Where the minimum NTA requirement has not been met 
In the case of an application for a licence - the application will be rejected. 

In any other case - the Authority may notify the Licensee it has accepted the Licensee meets the Ratio 
(Liquidity or Current), if applicable, however the Licensee does not meet the NTA requirements stated in 
this policy and the licence may be suspended. To be reinstated, Licensees will be obliged to 
demonstrate that they meet all prescribed requirements stated in this policy.  The Licence may be 
subsequently cancelled if the issue has not been resolved.   

 
Where the Licensee has submitted a financial report relying upon a Deed of Assurance regardless of 
whether the Licensee meets the NTA requirement the Authority may accept the Defined Amount stated 
in the financial report and will advise the Licensee of any deficiency. 

  

7.3 Where the minimum Ratio (Liquidity or Current) (if applicable) 
requirement is not met 
In the case of an application for a licence - the application will be rejected. 

In any other case - the Authority may notify the Licensee it has accepted that the Licensee meets the 
NTA requirements (either in its own right or in combination with amounts being assured by a Deed) but 
that the Licensee does not meet the Ratio (Liquidity or Current) requirements stated in this policy and 
the licence may be suspended.  To be reinstated, Licensees will be obliged to demonstrate that they 
meet all prescribed requirements stated in this policy.  The Licence may be subsequently cancelled if 
the issue has not been resolved.   

 
Where the Licensee has submitted a financial report relying upon a Deed of Assurance regardless of 
whether the Licensee meets the Ratio (Liquidity or Current) requirement the Authority may accept the 
Defined Amount stated in the financial report and will advise the Licensee of any deficiency. 

 

8. SUSPENSION OR CANCELLATION OF LICENCE 
 

Pursuant to the Act, where a licence is suspended or cancelled for any reason, the Licensee must 
immediately cease carrying out any building work.  Also, the Licensee must not sign any contracts to 
carry out building work, or provide any quotations or tenders to carry out building work, while the licence 
is suspended.   

 
Continuation of building work, the execution of contracts, or the provision of tenders or quotes after 
suspension of the licence may result in prosecution and may also prejudice rights to payment for work 
that has been carried out.   
 
If the licence is cancelled, the Licensee will be required to reapply for the licence and satisfy all of the 
licensing requirements that are applicable at the time the new application is received. 
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9. PROFESSIONAL INDEMNITY INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
9.1 Licence classes requiring professional indemnity insurance 

The requirement under this Section for the Licensee to hold professional indemnity insurance is in 
addition to any other financial requirements that the Licensee must comply with this policy. 
 

9.1.1 Licence classes where Professional Indemnity is mandatory 
Applicants applying for, or Licensees renewing, a Contractors Licence in the following classes must 
hold a certain level of Professional Indemnity Insurance in accordance with the Financial 
Requirements for Licensing.   
 
The insurance policy limit of indemnity for any one claim and the sum of all claims during any one 
period of insurance must be not less than: 

Licence Class Limit of Indemnity Amount 

Building Design – Open $500,000 

Building Design – Medium Rise $500,000 

Building Design – Low Rise $500,000 

Termite Management – Chemical $500,000 

Hydraulic Services Design $1,000,000 

Site Classifier $1,000,000 

Completed Residential Building Inspection $1,000,000 

Fire Equipment – Passive (Penetration and Joint Sealing) $1,000,000 

Fire Equipment – Passive (Wall and Ceiling Lining) $1,000,000 
 

9.1.2 Licence classes where Professional Indemnity for Certification 
only 

Applicants applying for, or Licensees renewing, a Contractors Licence which includes Certification, in 
the following classes must hold a certain level of Professional Indemnity Insurance in accordance with 
the Financial Requirements for Licensing.   

The insurance policy limit of indemnity for any one claim and the sum of all claims during any one 
period of insurance must be not less than: 

Licence Class Limit of Indemnity Amount 

Fire Fighting Appliances $500,000 

Fire Hydrants and Fire Hose Reels $1,000,000 

Fire Sprinkler Systems (Domestic and Residential) $1,000,000 

Fire Sprinkler Systems (other than Domestic and 
Residential) 

$1,000,000 

Fire Suppression Systems – Special Hazards $1,000,000 

Fixed Fire Pump Sets $1,000,000 

Fire Equipment – Passive (Fire Doors and Fire Shutters) $1,000,000 

Fire Detections Systems $5,000,000 
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9.2 Terms and Conditions of Insurance Policy 
An Applicant or Licensee in one of the classes specified in 9.1 must have a professional indemnity 
insurance policy that: 
 
1. Indemnifies the Licensee against legal liability resulting from any claims first made against the 

Licensee during the period of insurance arising out of any act, error or omission on the part of 
the Licensee in the conduct of the Licensee's business in respect of one of the classes referred 
to in 9.1, whether as a director, principal, partner or employee.  

 
2. At all times ensures the Licensee is covered to the minimum amount stated in sections 9.1.1 or 

9.1.2 of the Financial Requirements for Licensing Policy for their respective class. 
 
3. Provides indemnity against legal liability in respect of claims for damages or compensation 

made against the Licensee for misleading or deceptive conduct, but excludes any claims arising 
from dishonest, fraudulent, malicious or criminal conduct.  

 
4. Names as the Insured the Licensee, or the company or partnership of which the licence holder 

is a director, partner or employee, including if the Insured is a company: 
(i) persons who are or become partners, directors or employees of the company during the 

period of insurance and are licensed in the appropriate class; and  
 
(ii) persons who are former partners, directors or employees of the company and who are, 

or have been but no longer are, licensed in the appropriate class, in respect of acts, 
errors or omissions committed or allegedly committed by them whilst they were partners, 
directors or employees of the company. 

 
5. Does not exclude liability for loss or damage arising out of or concerning building work as 

defined under the Queensland Building Services Authority Act 1991 in the State of Queensland 
unless that liability would otherwise have been excluded by the Insurer’s standard wording for 
professional indemnity insurance policy for businesses of the type conducted by the Licensee;.   

 
6. Includes in addition to the limit of indemnity, provision for payment of the costs and expenses 

incurred by the Insured with the consent of the Insurer in defending or settling any claim and, in 
respect of any one claim, the policy may limit this sum to $100,000 or 20% of the limit of 
indemnity, whichever is the greater. 

 
7. Must: 

(a) comply with the all relevant State and Commonwealth legislation; or 
 
(b) placed by a general insurance broker registered in Australia. 
 

9.3 Insurance requirements – Fire Detection Systems 
In addition to other requirements set out in the Financial Requirements for Licensing Policy, 
Applicants and Licensees required to hold Professional Indemnity Insurance for certification of work 
in the class of Fire Detection Systems or must hold either: 
 
(a) Broad Form Public and Products Liability Insurance with a minimum limit of indemnity of $5 

million with policy extension to include: 
 
(i) the certification of the installation of fire detection systems under the Standard Building 

Regulation 1993; 
(ii) preparation of a report or similar document for the purpose of a certificate or record of 

maintenance of fire detection systems under sections 14 to 16 of the Building Fire Safety 
Regulation 1991; or 
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(b) Professional indemnity insurance that specifies a limit of indemnity for any one claim and the 
sum of all claims during any one period of insurance of not less than $5 million that complies with 
9.2 and paragraphs 9.3 (a)(i) and (a)(ii) above. 

9.4 Evidence of Cover 
Evidence of insurance must be produced at the time of application, renewal, audit or any other time as 
requested by the Authority.  The following may be accepted as evidence of the insurance: 
 

(a) if the policy complies with all relevant State and Commonwealth legislation - a certificate 
of currency issued by the Insurer; or 

 
(b) if the policy has been arranged by a general insurance broker registered in Australia - a 

certificate of currency plus a receipt from the broker. 

9.5 Implied warranty by insurance companies and insurance brokers 
 
By supplying a certificate of currency to the Authority, the Licensee and/or the general broker is 
warranting to the Authority that the professional indemnity policy taken out by the Applicant/Licensee 
complies with Section 9 of the Financial Requirements for Licensing Policy. 

9.6 Circumstances when insurance is not required 
 
The requirement for a Licensee to have the level of insurance specified in this Section will not apply if: 
(a) the insurance is not available in the market place; or 
(b) the insurance would be economically unviable for the Applicant, taking into consideration 

relevant factors, including: 
(i) the cost of the insurance; and 
(ii) the previous and expected future turnover of the relevant business or part of the business. 
 

The onus is on the person who is applying for, or seeking to renew a licence to establish to the 
Authority (including a declaration in the form of Attachment 5) that the Applicant has been unable to 
obtain the insurance in the market place because it is unavailable, or that it is economically unviable for 
the Applicant’s business to obtain it. 
 
If a Licensee ceases to hold relevant insurance under this Section at any time during the licence 
period, and the Licensee is unable to obtain replacement insurance or it is economically unviable for 
the Licensee to obtain replacement insurance, the Licensee must: 
 
(a) notify the Authority in writing of the Licensee’s non-compliance with the requirement to hold 

insurance; and 
(b) establish by providing documentation to the Authority (including a declaration in the form of 

Attachment 5) that the Licensee has been unable to obtain the insurance in the market place 
because it is unavailable or that it is economically unviable for the Licensee’s business to obtain 
it. 

9.7 Authority may impose licence conditions 
If, because of circumstances described in 9.6, a Licensee who contracts with individual consumers 
does not hold professional indemnity insurance as prescribed by this Financial Requirements for 
Licensing Policy of the Queensland Building Services Board, they should clearly and unequivocally 
notify every individual consumer in writing, either by way of a clause in a contract or by a separate 
notice. 
 
The Authority has power to impose a condition on the licence to that effect if it considers it 
appropriate.  In making a decision as to whether a condition is to be imposed on a licence, the 
Authority must comply with the requirements of the Act. 
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In the case of a subsequent imposition of a condition on a licence, s.36 of the Act requires that the 
Licensee must be invited to make written representations in respect of a proposal to impose a 
condition, prior to any decision being made in this regard by the Authority. 
 
For the purposes of 9.7, an “individual consumer” means: 
 
(a) a person who intends to reside in the building that is the subject of the contract upon 

completion (or within six months of completion); or 
(b) a person who currently resides in the residence where the work that is the subject of the 

contract is to be carried out. 
 

10. FALSE AND MISLEADING INFORMATION 
 
It is an offence, pursuant to section 53B of the Act, for any person to give a document to the Authority 
about a Licensee’s satisfaction of the financial requirements stated in this policy where: 
 
(a) the person knows the document contains information that is false or misleading; or  
(b) the document contains information that is false or misleading and the person did not take 

reasonable steps to make sure that the information was not false or misleading.   
 
The maximum penalty applicable for a contravention of section 53B of the Act is 100 penalty units 
and/or 2 years imprisonment. 
 
The Authority will not accept any Independent Review Reports or Audit Reports that it receives from 
any person who has been successfully prosecuted pursuant to section 53B of the Act. 
 

11. CONFIDENTIALITY 
Should an application under the Freedom of Information Act 1992 (FOI) be lodged with the Authority 
(or with the State), the appropriately authorised FOI Officer will review the request in accordance with 
legislative requirements. Exemptions available under FOI may be applied to information that is claimed 
by the Licensee to be ‘commercial in confidence’.  Licensees wishing to protect this information must 
be able to show that the information provided: 
 
• Has a commercial value; and 
• That value would be destroyed or diminished by its release. 
 
The FOI Act provides the Licensee with the right to appeal a decision made by an FOI Officer. 

 
 

12. TRANSITIONAL ARRANGEMENTS 
 

12.1 Repeal of financial requirements policies existing prior to 1 July 2006 
 

Effective on and from 1 July 2006, the Board repeals the following policies which existed immediately 
prior to this Policy coming into effect on 1 July 2006: 

 
• Financial Requirements for Contractors (other than builders) with a Turnover of less than $75,000 

per Annum – Declaration; and 
• Financial Requirements for (Declaration): 

- Trade Contractors and Building Designers with a Turnover of Between $75,000 - $250,00 Per 
Annum; And 
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- Builders with an Annual Turnover of Less Than $250,000. 
 

Effective on and from 1 July 2008, the Board repeals the following policies which existed immediately 
prior to the New Policy coming into effect on 1 July 2006: 

 
• Financial Requirements for Licensing (including Attachments 1 to 5; Deed of Covenant and 

Assurance; Information Memorandum for Persons Preparing An Independent Review Report; Draft 
Client Engagement Letter; Client Questionnaire; and Review Control Sheet. 

12.2 Transitional provisions 
 

The following provisions apply if, before the repeal of the Board’s policies mentioned above, (the 
repealed policies), an applicant for a licence or a licensee has: 
(a) completed a Declaration in compliance with a repealed policy immediately before commencement 

of this Policy on 1 July 2006; or 
(b) provided an Independent Review Report or Audit Report in compliance with a repealed policy 

which has a review year end date before 1 July 2006 (i.e. up until 30 June 2006). 
 

The repealed policies continue to apply to the applicant for a licence or licensee until: 
(a) for a Declaration referred to in the above paragraph – the licensee is required under the repealed 

policy to complete a new Declaration; or 
(b) for an Independent Review Report or Audit Report referred in the above paragraph – the licensee 

is required under the repealed policy to provide a new Report.  
 

Despite the repeal of the policies which existed immediately prior to this Policy coming into effect on 1 
July 2006 pursuant to the above clause, if a Deed of Covenant and Assurance provided under a 
repealed policy is in force immediately before the commencement of the New Policy on 1 July 2006, 
the Deed is taken to: 
(a) continue in force until it is revoked by the Building Services Authority pursuant to the Deed; and 
(b) have been given under this Policy. 

 
To remove doubt, this Policy does not allow or authorise a Licensee to: 
(a) complete a declaration under a repealed policy after the 1 July 2006; or 
(b) provide an Independent Review Report or Audit Report in compliance with a repealed policy with a 

review year end date on or after 1 July 2006. 
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Queensland Building Services Authority Act 1991 
Approved Form 1 – Version 4 

Attachment 1 - Financial Requirements for Licensing  

INDEPENDENT REVIEW REPORT 
(FOR TURNOVER CATEGORIES 1-3 ONLY) 

 
 
TO:  Building Services Authority (BSA) 
 
 …………………………………….. (Name of Client) 
 
Scope 
 
I, ......................................................... (name) of ...........................................................(address or firm name) 
being an independent qualified person by virtue of .....................................................................(qualification) 
and being a holder of a public practising certificate state that I have reviewed the financial information of 
………………………………………………………………….(name of Client) (‘the Client’) for the year ended 
…………………………….(date).  The Client or where the Client is a company, its directors, are responsible 
for the financial information.  I have performed the review of the financial information against the financial 
criteria set out below in order to state whether, on the basis of the procedures described, anything has 
come to my attention that would indicate that the financial information in relation to those criteria is not 
presented fairly, in accordance with all applicable Australian Accounting Standards, other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements and the Financial Requirements for Licensing of the Building Services 
Authority. 
 
This Independent Review Report has been prepared for distribution to the Client and the Building Services 
Authority, for the purpose of reporting on Financial Requirements for Licensing.  I disclaim any assumption 
of responsibility for any reliance on this Independent Review Report or on the financial information to which 
it relates to any person other than the Client and the Building Services Authority. 
 
My review has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards applicable to review 
engagements.  A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the personnel of the Client and analytical 
procedures applied to the Financial Information.  These procedures do not provide all the evidence, which 
would be required in an audit, thus the level of assurance provided is less than given in an audit.  I have not 
performed an audit and accordingly, I do not express an audit opinion.   
 
I confirm the tests or checks I have conducted, and the evidence sighted, comply with those minimum 
requirements as set out in the Financial Requirements for Licensing Review Control Sheet developed by 
the Building Services Authority, and that I have applied all relevant Australian Accounting Standards and 
significant accounting policies in the preparation and presentation of the Financial Information.  Where such 
standards and policies have not been applied, details of these are outlined below (See Note 1). 
 
Qualification Paragraph 
The Client has not met the following aspects of the Financial Requirements for Licensing: 
............................................................................................................................................................................. 
 (State how the Client did not meet the Financial Requirements for Licensing.) 
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Statement 
Based on my review of the Financial Information, which is NOT an audit, except for the effects 
described in the Qualification Paragraph, nothing has come to my attention that causes me to 
believe that the Client  has not met the Financial Requirements for Licensing, as prescribed by the 
Building Services Authority, as at and for the year ended date as stated above.   
In determining the Financial Information of the Client, I verify I have NOT included any Related 
Entity Loans or Investment assets in the calculations, unless otherwise stated as follows:  
(TICK BOX IF APPROPRIATE) 

 In determining Net Tangible Assets of the Client, I HAVE included Related Entity Loan and/or 
Investment asset amounts within the accounts of the Client, and I have independently verified such 
assets are collectible by the Client as at and for the year ended date as stated above (See Note 3). 

 
Financial Information: 
• Allowable Annual Turnover……………………………. 
• Ratio (please complete either the Liquidity Ratio or Current Ratio) 

Liquidity Ratio (please state as a ratio)………………:………………. (min 0.8:1) 
OR 

Current Ratio (please state as a ratio)………………:………………. (min 1:1) 

• Net Tangible Assets of Licensee – excluding the amount of any Deeds (of at least)……..………… 
• Deed of Assurance provided to Licensee (if applicable): 

Full and Correct Name(s) 
of each Covenantor 

Amount of Deed 
‘Defined Amount’ 

Relationship to 
Licensee (Refer to 

Section 2.4.5) 

Original Deed 
Previously Provided 

(Yes/No) 
    

    

    

• Actual Annual Turnover for year of review……………………. 
I CERTIFY THAT this Independent Review Report has not been altered from the Independent 
Review Report applicable to Turnover Categories 1–3 contained in the Board’s policies other than 
by the completion of information in the spaces provided.   
 
In order for me to make the above statement, attached to this Independent Review Report are the 
details of the calculations performed. (See Note 2). Where Deeds of Assurance have been relied 
upon, I have attached a verified Statement of Financial Position for each Covenantor. 
………………………….    …………………………. 
(Name of Appropriately Qualified Person)              (Signature of Appropriately Qualified Person) 

…………………………..    ………………………. 
(Professional Qualifications)    (Date) 

……………………………………………………………………………………… 
……………………………………………………………………………………… 
(Address and Telephone number) 
Notes: 
1. List all Australian Accounting Standards and significant accounting policies which apply to the Client, but have NOT been 

applied in determining the Financial Information.  Any variance from the Australian Accounting Standards applicable must be 
approved by the Authority prior to lodgement of the Report. 

2. Individual calculations must be able to be agreed to the financial statement information. 
3. If the assessment of the Clients Net Tangible Asset position includes Related Entity Loans and/or Investments, you must 

indicate this by ticking the appropriate box.  If you do not tick the box you are declaring you have not included any Related 
Entity Loans or Investments in the Clients Net Tangible Asset calculation. Refer  to section 2.4.4. 
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INDEPENDENT REVIEW REPORT 

(FOR TURNOVER CATEGORIES 1-3 ONLY) 
 

CALCULATION SHEET 
 
This calculation sheet must be completed and returned with the Independent Review Report (Note 2). 
 
Net Tangible Assets 
 
Total Assets   =  
Total Liabilities  =  
Intangible Assets  =  
 
NTA  =  Total Assets – Total Liabilities – Intangible Assets 
 
 = 
 
 
Ratios 
 
Liquidity Ratio 
 
Current Assets     =  
Inventory      =  
Current Liabilities    = 
Current Financial Institution Facilities =  
 
Liquidity Ratio  =  Current Assets – Inventory 
    Current Liabilities – Current Financial Institution Facilities 
 
   = _______________________________________ 
 
 

   = : 
 
 

 
Current Ratio 
 
Current Assets     =  
Current Liabilities    = 
 
Current Ratio  =  Current Assets  
    Current Liabilities  
 
   = _______________________________________ 
 
 

   = : 

1 July 2006 



Financial Requirements for Licensing    
   

45

Queensland Building Services Authority Act 1991 
Approved Form 2 – Version 4 

Attachment 2 - Financial Requirements for Licensing  

AUDIT REPORT 
(FOR TURNOVER CATEGORIES 4 to 8) 

 

TO: Building Services Authority (BSA) 

   ………………………………….(Name of Client) 

Scope 
We have audited the financial statements of ………………………………………………. (name of Client) 
(‘the Client’) for the year ended …………………………………… as required by the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
We have also audited the Financial Information for that year as set out below.  The members of the 
………………………………… (governing body) of the Client are responsible for the Financial Information.  
We have conducted an independent audit of the Financial Information of the Client in order to express an 
opinion on it to the Client and the Building Services Authority. 
 
The Financial Information has been prepared as required by the Financial Requirements for Licensing of 
the Building Services Authority.  We disclaim any assumption of responsibility for any reliance on this Audit 
Report or on the Financial Information to any person other than the Client and the Building Services 
Authority or for any purpose other than that for which it was prepared. 
 
Our audit has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our procedures included 
examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting the information included in the Financial Information.  
These procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion whether, in all material respects, the Financial 
Information is presented fairly in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements, the Financial Requirements for Licensing of the Building Services 
Authority and whether the Client meets these requirements. 
 
The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on the above basis. 
 
Audit Opinion 
In my opinion the Financial Information set out below has been presented fairly and the Client has 
met the Financial Requirements for Licensing, as prescribed by the Building Services Authority, as 
at and for the year ended as stated above. 
In determining the Financial Information of the Client, I verify I have NOT included any Related 
Entity Loans or Investment assets in the calculations, unless otherwise stated as follows:  (TICK BOX 
IF APPROPRIATE) 

 In determining Net Tangible Assets of the Client, I HAVE included Related Entity Loan and/or 
Investment asset amounts within the accounts of the Client, and I have independently verified such 
assets are collectible by the Client as at and for the year ended date as stated above (See Note 2). 

 
Financial Information: 
• Allowable Annual Turnover……………………………. 
• Ratio (please complete either the Liquidity Ratio or Current Ratio) 

Liquidity Ratio (please state as a ratio)………………:………………. (min 0.8:1) 

OR 

Current Ratio (please state as a ratio)………………:………………. (min 1:1) 

• Net Tangible Assets of Licensee – excluding the amount of any Deeds (of at least)……..………… 
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• Deed of Assurance provided to Licensee (if applicable): 

Full and Correct Name(s) 
of each Covenantor 

Amount of Deed 
‘Defined Amount’ 

Relationship to 
Licensee (Refer to 

Section 2.4.5) 

Original Deed 
Previously Provided 

(Yes/No) 
    

    

    

• Actual Annual Turnover for period of Review………………………………………… 

In order for me to form the above opinion – 
(a) attached to this Audit Report are the details of the calculations performed; and 
(b) the Financial Information and the attached calculations have been extracted from the 

audited report of the Client for the year ended……………………..(date).  The audit opinion 
which I formed the report was not subject to any adverse qualification or comment.  A copy 
of the signed audited financial statements and independent audit opinion is attached hereto. 

(c) Where Deeds of Assurance have been relied upon, I have attached a verified Statement of 
Financial Position for each Covenantor. 

 
………………………………………………………....   ………………………………………. 
(Name of Auditor)        (Signature of Auditor) 

………………………………………….     ……………………………………… 
(Registered Company Auditor Number)     (Date) 

………………………..…………………………………………………………………………………………… 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 

(Address and Telephone number) 
 
Please Note:   Any reservation, shortcoming, non-compliance or other problem with the figures or 
qualification including any limitation of scope is to be included in a separate paragraph titled 
‘Qualification’. 
 
Notes: 
1. Individual calculations should be able to be agreed to the financial statement information.  
2. If the assessment of the Clients Net Tangible Asset position includes Related Entity Loans and/or Investments, 

you must indicate this by ticking the appropriate box.  If you do not tick the box you are declaring you have not 
included any Related Entity Loans or Investments in the Clients Net Tangible Asset calculation. Refer  to section 
2.4.4. 
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AUDIT REPORT 
(FOR TURNOVER CATEGORIES 4-8) 

 
CALCULATION SHEET 

 
This calculation sheet must be completed and returned with the Audit Report and audited financial 
statements. 
 
Net Tangible Assets 
 
Total Assets   =  
Total Liabilities  =  
Intangible Assets  =  
 
NTA  =  Total Assets – Total Liabilities – Intangible Assets 
 
 = 
 
 
Ratios 
 
Liquidity Ratio 
 
Current Assets     =  
Inventory      =  
Current Liabilities    = 
Current Financial Institution Facilities =  
 
Liquidity Ratio  =  Current Assets – Inventory 
    Current Liabilities – Current Financial Institution Facilities 
 
   = _______________________________________ 
 
 

   = : 
 

 
Current Ratio 
 
Current Assets     =  
Current Liabilities    = 
 
Current Ratio  =  Current Assets  
    Current Liabilities  
 
   = _______________________________________ 
 
 

   = : 
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Queensland Building Services Authority Act 1991 
Approved Form 3 – Version 4  

Attachment 3 – Financial Requirements for Licensing  
INDEPENDENT REVIEW REPORT 

(FOR TURNOVER CATEGORIES 4-8 – 1st YEAR ONLY) 
 
TO:  Building Services Authority (BSA) 
 
 …………………………………….. (Name of Client) 
 
Scope 
 
I, ......................................................... (name) of ...........................................................(address or firm name) 
being an independent qualified person by virtue of .....................................................................(qualification) 
and being a holder of a public practising certificate state that I have reviewed the financial information of 
………………………………………………………………….(name of Client) (‘the Client’) for the year ended. 
…………………………….(date). The Client or where the Client is a company, its directors, are responsible 
for the financial information.  I have performed the review of the financial information against the financial 
criteria set out below in order to state whether, on the basis of the procedures described, anything has 
come to my attention that would indicate that the financial information in relation to those criteria is not 
presented fairly, in accordance with all applicable Australian Accounting Standards, other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements and the Financial Requirements for Licensing of the Building Services 
Authority. 
 
This Independent Review Report has been prepared for distribution to the Client and the Building Services 
Authority, for the purpose of reporting on Financial Requirements for Licensing.  I disclaim any assumption 
of responsibility for any reliance on this Independent Review Report or on the financial information to which 
it relates to any person other than the Client and the Building Services Authority. 
 
My review has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards applicable to review 
engagements.  A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the personnel of the Client and analytical 
procedures applied to the Financial Information.  These procedures do not provide all the evidence, which 
would be, required in an audit, thus the level of assurance provided is less than given in an audit.  I have 
not performed an audit and accordingly, I do not express an audit opinion.   
 
I confirm the tests or checks I have conducted, and the evidence sighted, comply with those minimum 
requirements as set out in the Financial Requirements for Licensing Review Control Sheet developed by 
the Building Services Authority, and that I have applied all relevant Australian Accounting Standards and 
significant accounting policies in the preparation and presentation of the Financial Information.  Where such 
standards and policies have not been applied, details of these are outlined below (See Note 1). 
 
Qualification Paragraph 
The Client has not met the following aspects of the Financial Requirements for Licensing: 
............................................................................................................................................................................. 
............................................................................................................................................................................. 
 (State how the Client did not meet the Financial Requirements for Licensing.) 
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Statement 
Based on my review of the Financial Information, which is NOT an audit, except for the effects 
described in the Qualification Paragraph above, nothing has come to my attention that causes me 
to believe that the Client  has not met the Financial Requirements for Licensing, as prescribed by 
the Building Services Authority, as at and for the year ended date as stated above.   
 
In determining the Net Tangible Assets of the Client, I verify I have NOT included any Related Entity 
Loans or Investment assets in the calculation, unless otherwise stated as follows: 
(TICK BOX IF APPROPRIATE) 

 In determining Net Tangible Assets of the Client, I HAVE included Related Entity Loan and/or 
Investment asset amounts within the accounts of the Client, and I have independently verified such 
assets are collectible by the Client as at and for the year ended date as stated above (See Note 3). 

 
Financial Information: 
• Allowable Annual Turnover……………………………. 
• Ratio (please complete either the Liquidity Ratio or Current Ratio) 

Liquidity Ratio (please state as a ratio)………………:………………. (min 0.8:1) 

OR 

Current Ratio (please state as a ratio)………………:………………. (min 1:1) 

• Net Tangible Assets of Licensee – excluding the amount of any Deeds (of at least)……..………… 
• Deed of Assurance provided to Licensee (if applicable): 
Full and Correct Name(s) of 

each Covenantor 
Amount of Deed 
‘Defined Amount’ 

Relationship to 
Licensee (Refer 
Section 2.4.5) 

Original Deed 
Previously Provided 

(Yes/No) 
    
    
    
 

• Actual Annual Turnover for year of review……………………. 

I CERTIFY THAT this Independent Review Report has not been altered from the Independent 
Review Report applicable to Turnover Categories 4-8 contained in the Board’s policies other than 
by the completion of information in the spaces provided.   
 
In order for me to make the above statement, attached to this Independent Review Report are the 
details of the calculations performed (See Note 2). Where Deeds of Assurance have been relied 
upon, I have attached a verified Statement of Financial Position for each Covenantor. 
 

………………………….    …………………………. 
(Name of Appropriately Qualified Person)              (Signature of Appropriately Qualified Person) 

…………………………..    ………………………. 
(Professional Qualifications)    (Date) 

……………………………………………………………………………………… 
……………………………………………………………………………………… 
(Address and Telephone number) 
Notes: 
1. List all Australian Accounting Standards and significant accounting policies which apply to the Client, but have 

NOT been applied in determining the Financial Information.  Any variance from the Australian Accounting 
Standards applicable must be approved by the Authority prior to lodgement of the Report 
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2. Individual calculations must be able to be agreed to the financial statement information. 
3. If the assessment of the Clients Net Tangible Asset position includes Related Entity Loans and/or Investments, 

you must indicate this by ticking the appropriate box.  If you do not tick the box you are declaring you have not 
included any Related Entity Loans or Investments in the Clients Net Tangible Asset calculation. Refer  to section 
2.4.4. 
 

 
Statement Regarding Appointment of Auditor 
 
The Client has appointed the following registered company auditor/s in order for it to be able to provide an 
Audit Report at the next renewal of its licence. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………. (Name of Auditor) 
 
……………………………………………………………………………. (Registered Company Auditor Number) 
 
………………………………………………………………………………….... (Address & Telephone Number) 
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INDEPENDENT REVIEW REPORT 

(FOR TURNOVER CATEGORIES 4-8 ONLY) 
 

CALCULATION SHEET 
 
This calculation sheet must be completed and returned with the Independent Review Report and financial 
statements. 
 
Net Tangible Assets 
 
Total Assets   =  
Total Liabilities  =  
Intangible Assets  =  
 
NTA  =  Total Assets–Total Liabilities –Intangible Assets 
 
 = 
 
Ratios 
 
Liquidity Ratio 
 
Current Assets     =  
Inventory      =  
Current Liabilities    = 
Current Financial Institution Facilities =  
 
Liquidity Ratio  =  Current Assets – Inventory 
    Current Liabilities – Current Financial Institution Facilities 
 
   = _______________________________________ 
 
 

   = : 
 

 
Current Ratio 
 
Current Assets     =  
Current Liabilities    = 
 
Current Ratio  =  Current Assets  
    Current Liabilities  
 
   = _______________________________________ 
 
 

   = : 
Queensland Building Services Authority Act 1991 
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Approved Form 10 – Version 1 
Attachment 4 – Financial Requirements for Licensing 

INDEPENDENT REVIEW REPORT – AUDIT EXEMPTION 

(FOR TURNOVER CATEGORIES 4-8) 
 
TO:  Building Services Authority (BSA) 
 
 …………………………………….. (Name of Client) 
 
Scope 
 
I, ......................................................... (name) of ...........................................................(address or firm name) 
being an independent qualified person by virtue of .....................................................................(qualification) 
and being a holder of a public practising certificate state that I have reviewed the financial information of 
………………………………………………………………….(name of Client) (‘the Client’) for the year ended 
…………………………….(date). The Client or where the Client is a company, its directors, are responsible 
for the financial information.  I have performed the review of the financial information against the financial 
criteria set out below in order to state whether, on the basis of the procedures described, anything has 
come to my attention that would indicate that the financial information in relation to those criteria is not 
presented fairly, in accordance with all applicable Australian Accounting Standards, other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements and the Financial Requirements for Licensing of the Building Services 
Authority. 
 
This Independent Review Report has been prepared for distribution to the Client and the Building Services 
Authority, for the purpose of reporting on Financial Requirements for Licensing.  I disclaim any assumption 
of responsibility for any reliance on this Independent Review Report or on the financial information to which 
it relates to any person other than the Client and the Building Services Authority. 
 
My review has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards applicable to review 
engagements.  A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the personnel of the Client and analytical 
procedures applied to the Financial Information.  These procedures do not provide all the evidence, which 
would be, required in an audit, thus the level of assurance provided is less than given in an audit.  I have 
not performed an audit and accordingly, I do not express an audit opinion.   
 
I confirm the tests or checks I have conducted, and the evidence sighted, comply with those minimum 
requirements as set out in the Financial Requirements for Licensing Review Control Sheet developed by 
the Building Services Authority, and that I have applied all relevant Australian Accounting Standards and 
significant accounting policies in the preparation and presentation of the Financial Information.  Where such 
standards and policies have not been applied, details of these are outlined below (See Note 1). 
 
Qualification Paragraph 
The Client has not met the following aspects of the Financial Requirements for Licensing: 
............................................................................................................................................................................. 
 (State how the Client did not meet the Financial Requirements for Licensing.) 
 
Statement 
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Based on my review of the Financial Information, which is NOT an audit, except for the effects 
described in the Qualification Paragraph above, nothing has come to my attention that causes me 
to believe that the Client  has not met the Financial Requirements for Licensing, as prescribed by 
the Building Services Authority, as at and for the year ended date as stated above.   
 
In determining the Financial Information of the Client, I verify I have NOT included any Related 
Entity Loans or Investment assets in the calculation, unless otherwise stated as follows: (TICK BOX IF 
APPROPRIATE) 

 In determining Net Tangible Assets of the Client, I HAVE included Related Entity Loan and/or 
Investment asset amounts within the accounts of the Client, and I have independently verified such 
assets are collectible by the Client as at and for the year ended date as stated above (See Note 3). 

 
Financial Information: 
• Allowable Annual Turnover……………………………. 
• Ratio (please complete either the Liquidity Ratio or Current Ratio) 

Liquidity Ratio (please state as a ratio)………………:………………. (min 0.8:1) 

OR 

Current Ratio (please state as a ratio)………………:………………. (min 1:1) 

• Net Tangible Assets of Licensee – excluding the amount of any Deeds (of at least)……..………… 

• Deed of Assurance provided to Licensee (if applicable): 

Full and Correct Name(s) 
of each Covenantor 

Amount of Deed 
‘Defined Amount’ 

Relationship to 
Licensee (Refer to 

Section 2.4.5) 

Original Deed 
Previously 

Provided (Yes/No)
    

    

    
 
• Actual Annual Turnover for year of review……………………………………….. 
In order for me to make the above statement, attached to this Independent Review Report are the 
details of the calculations performed (See Note 2). Where Deeds of Assurance have been relied 
upon, I have attached a verified Balance Sheet of each Covenantors financial position. 
 
Opinion Regarding Exemption 
 
I confirm the Client is not required to be audited by the Corporations Act 2001 for the year end upon which 
this Report has been based, or within the next 12 months.  The Client is exempt from audit requirements as 
stated, for the following reasons: 
 

 The Client is a small proprietary company or an individual, and not required to be audited for 
Corporations Act 2001 or any other reporting agency. 

 The Client is a large proprietary company and is subject to ASIC Class Order 98/1417 or similar, and 
not required to be audited for Corporations Act 2001 or any other reporting agency. 

 The Client is a foreign company which has been audited but not by an Australian Auditor, and is not 
required to be audited for Corporations Act 2001 or any other Australian reporting agency.  I have 
performed my review based on the audited overseas accounts. 

 
Statement 
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I CERTIFY THAT this Independent Review Report has not been altered from the Independent 
Review Report applicable to Turnover Categories 4-8 contained in the Board’s policies other than 
by the completion of information in the spaces provided.   
 
In order for me to make the above statement, attached to this Independent Review Report are the 
details of the calculations performed. (See Note 2 below). Where Deeds of Assurance have been 
relied upon, I have attached a verified Statement of Financial Position for each Covenantor. 
 

………………………….    …………………………. 
(Name of Appropriately Qualified Person)              (Signature of Appropriately Qualified Person) 

…………………………..    ………………………. 
(Professional Qualifications)    (Date) 

……………………………………………………………………………………… 
……………………………………………………………………………………… 
(Address and telephone number) 
 
Notes: 
1. List all Australian Accounting Standards and significant accounting policies which apply to the Client, but have 

NOT been applied in determining the Financial Information.  Any variance from the Australian Accounting 
Standards applicable must be approved by the Authority prior to lodgement of the Report.  

2. Individual calculations must be able to be agreed to the financial statement information. 
3. If the assessment of the Clients Net Tangible Asset position includes Related Entity Loans and/or Investments, 

you must indicate this by ticking the appropriate box.  If you do not tick the box you are declaring you have not 
included any Related Entity Loans or Investments in the Clients Net Tangible Asset calculation. Refer  to section 
2.4.4. 
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INDEPENDENT REVIEW REPORT – AUDIT EXEMPTION 

(FOR TURNOVER CATEGORIES 4-8 ONLY) 
 

CALCULATION SHEET 
 
This calculation sheet must be completed and returned with the Independent Review Report and financial 
statements (Note 2). 
 
Net Tangible Assets 
 
Total Assets   =  
Total Liabilities  =  
Intangible Assets  =  
 
NTA  =  Total Assets–Total Liabilities –Intangible Assets 
 
 = 
Ratios 
 
Liquidity Ratio 
 
Current Assets     =  
Inventory      =  
Current Liabilities    = 
Current Financial Institution Facilities =  
 
Liquidity Ratio  =  Current Assets – Inventory 
    Current Liabilities – Current Financial Institution Facilities 
 
   = _______________________________________ 
 
 

   = : 
 
 

 
Current Ratio 
 
Current Assets     =  
Current Liabilities    = 
 
Current Ratio  =  Current Assets  
    Current Liabilities  
 
   = _______________________________________ 
 
 

   = : 
Queensland Building Services Authority Act 1991 
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Approved Form 11 – Version 1 
Attachment 5 – Financial Requirements for Licensing  

 

Declaration –  
Allowable Annual Turnover under $100,000 per annum 

(Note: This Declaration may be completed by all Contractors, except those who hold a Builder class 
licence.)   

 
An individual/company may, at application, renewal or any other time as required, make Declaration to the 
Queensland Building Services Authority they have a minimum of $6,000 in Net Tangible Assets (NTA), and 
will not have a turnover of more than $100,000 per annum in the forthcoming Licence Year.  
 
By completing this Declaration, the Applicant or Licensee declares they have the required Net Tangible 
Assets in their own right, and are not relying on assets of another entity, or those assets held on trust, and 
comply with the Financial Requirements for Licensing Policy.   
 
For the meaning of “Net Tangible Assets” and “Annual Turnover” see Section 1.3 (Definitions) of the 
Financial Requirements for Licensing Policy. 
 
Professional Indemnity Insurance - the Applicant or Licensee may also be required to comply with Section 
9 (Professional Indemnity Insurance) of this policy where one or more of the specified classes are held. 
 
The Queensland Building Services Authority can prosecute any person who knowingly provides information, 
which is false or misleading, whether this information is provided in writing or verbally using Phone Pay.   

DECLARATION  

INDIVIDUAL DECLARATION (To be completed by Applicant/Licensee) 

Warning: Incorrect or misleading information may lead to a review and possible cancellation of your BSA licence. 

• My Annual Turnover WILL NOT exceed $100,000 for the 12 month renewal period of my licence.  I have at least 
$6,000 Net Tangible Assets.  

 I DECLARE THAT THE ABOVE PARTICULARS ARE TRUE AND CORRECT. 

Signature of Licensee:  Date:  

Name of Licensee:  Licence No.  
 

 

COMPANY DECLARATION (To be completed by Director/Authorised Person) 

Warning: Incorrect or misleading information may lead to a review and possible cancellation of the company’s 
BSA licence. 

• The Company’s Annual Turnover WILL NOT exceed $100,000 for the 12 month renewal period of the licence.  The 
Company has at least $6,000 Net Tangible Assets.  

 I DECLARE THAT THE ABOVE PARTICULARS ARE TRUE AND CORRECT. 

Signature of Director/Authorised Person:  Date:  
 

Name of Director/Authorised Person:  
 

Name of Company:  Licence No.  
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Queensland Building Services Authority Act 1991 
Approved Form 12 – Version 1 

Attachment 6 – Financial Requirements for Licensing  
 

Declaration –  
Allowable Annual Turnover under $300,000 per annum 

 
An individual/company may, at application, renewal or any other time as required, make Declaration to the 
Queensland Building Services Authority they have a minimum of $18,000 in Net Tangible Assets (NTA), and 
will not have a turnover of more than $300,000 per annum in the forthcoming Licence Year.  
 
By completing this Declaration, the Applicant or Licensee declares they have the required Net Tangible 
Assets in their own right, and are not relying on assets of another entity, or those assets held on trust, and 
comply with the Financial Requirements for Licensing Policy.   
 
For the meaning of “Net Tangible Assets” and “Annual Turnover” see Section 1.3 (Definitions) of the 
Financial Requirements for Licensing Policy. 
 
Professional Indemnity Insurance - the Applicant or Licensee may also be required to comply with Section 
9 (Professional Indemnity Insurance) of the policy where one or more of the specified classes are held. 
 
The Queensland Building Services Authority can prosecute any person who knowingly provides information, 
which is false or misleading, whether this information is provided in writing or verbally using Phone Pay.   

DECLARATION  

INDIVIDUAL DECLARATION (To be completed by Applicant/Licensee) 

Warning: Incorrect or misleading information may lead to a review and possible cancellation of your BSA licence. 

• My Annual Turnover WILL NOT exceed $300,000 for the 12 month renewal period of my licence.  I have at least 
$18,000 Net Tangible Assets.  

 I DECLARE THAT THE ABOVE PARTICULARS ARE TRUE AND CORRECT. 

Signature of Licensee:  Date:  

Name of Licensee:  Licence No.  
 

 

COMPANY DECLARATION (To be completed by Director/Authorised Person) 

Warning: Incorrect or misleading information may lead to a review and possible cancellation of the company’s 
BSA licence. 

• The Company’s Annual Turnover WILL NOT exceed $300,000 for the 12 month renewal period of the licence.  The 
Company has at least $18,000 Net Tangible Assets.  

 I DECLARE THAT THE ABOVE PARTICULARS ARE TRUE AND CORRECT. 

Signature of Director/Authorised Person:  Date:  
 

Name of Director/Authorised Person:  
 

Name of Company:  Licence No.  
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Queensland Building Services Authority Act 1991 
Approved Form 4 – Version 4 

Attachment 7 – Financial Requirements for Licensing  
 
 

REQUEST TO CHANGE RENEWAL DATE 
 
Licence Number: ………………………….. 
 
Licensee Name: ………………………………………………………………………………..……….. 
 
Licensee Address: …………………………………………………………………………………..…. 
 
Current Renewal Date: ..……….… / ………..…… / …………..……. 
 
Proposed Renewal Date: ..……….… / ………..…… / …………..……. 
. 
Reason for Request to Change Renewal Date: 
 
………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
 
………………………………………………………..
(Signature of Licensee) 
 
………………………………………………………. 
(Name of Person Signing) 
 
………………………………… 
(Date) 
 
Fee Received with Request: $…………. 
 
Notes: 
1. An application by a Licensee to change the renewal date may be made on this form; 
2. Where a licence is to be renewed for a period of more than 12 months, the additional renewal licence fees will be 

required to be paid prior to approving the request to change the renewal date. 
3. Where the Licensee falls within Categories 4-8, the additional renewal fees that must be paid with this form will be 

equal to the yearly renewal fee applicable for Categories 4 to 8 multiplied by the number of months from the date 
of the current renewal to the date of the requested renewal, divided by 12. 
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Queensland Building Services Authority Act 1991 
Approved Form 5 – Version 3 

Attachment 8 – Financial Requirements for Licensing 
 

 
DECLARATION - PROFESSIONAL INDEMNITY INSURANCE  

 
 
Name of Licensee: 

 

  
Licence Number:  
 
1. Please tick one of the following boxes: 
 
Insurance cannot be obtained due to being declined/refused:   (Go to Question2) 
 
Insurance cannot be obtained/maintained as it is not economically viable:   (Go to Question 4) 
 
THIS SECTION TO BE COMPLETED IF INSURANCE DECLINED/REFUSED 
 
2. What insurance companies/brokers have you contacted to obtain insurance? (also include contact 

names and telephone numbers) 

______________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________ 
 
3. What reasons were given for denying you insurance? 

______________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________ 
(No further Questions are required to be completed. Go to end of form and sign Declaration) 
 
 
THIS SECTION TO BE COMPLETED IF INSURANCE IS NOT ECONOMICALLY VIABLE 
 
4. Is it economically viable for your business to obtain professional indemnity insurance? 

Yes   No   
 
5. Why is it economically unviable for you to obtain professional indemnity insurance?  

______________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________  
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6. What is your Allowable Annual Turnover for the forthcoming year and your Actual Annual Turnover 
for the previous licence year?  

 
Allowable Annual Turnover:   Actual Annual Turnover:  

  
7. What insurance companies/brokers have you contacted to obtain insurance? (also include contact 

names and numbers) 

______________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________   
 
8. What was the cost of the insurance quoted? (attach quotations and any other supporting 

documentation) 

______________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________ 

         
9. If you previously held a professional indemnity insurance policy, what change in circumstances now 

makes it economically unviable to maintain it?    

______________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________ 
 
NOTES: Incorrect or misleading information may lead to a review and possible cancellation of your 

licence.  Further, pursuant to Section 53B of the Queensland Building Services Authority 
Act 1991 it is an offence for a person to give a document to the Authority about a 
contractor’s satisfaction of financial requirements if: (a) a person knows the document 
contains information that is false or misleading; or (b) the document contains information 
that is false or misleading and the person did not take reasonable steps to make sure that 
the information was not false or misleading.  The maximum penalty is 100 penalty units or 
2 years imprisonment. 

 
 If a Licensee is granted a licence and is not required to hold insurance at the level of 

insurance prescribed in 9.1 of the Financial Requirements for Licensing Policy, the 
Authority may impose additional conditions on your licence.  These may include a 
condition that the Licensee must clearly and unequivocally advise an individual consumer 
in writing, prior to entering any contract, that the Licensee does not hold the professional 
indemnity insurance prescribed in the Financial Requirements for Licensing Policy of the 
Queensland Building Services Board.  

 
I declare the information provided in this document is true and correct and give my consent for the 
Authority to make enquiries with third parties in relation to the information provided. 
 
Name: 

  
Signature: 

 

 
Position held if signing on behalf of the company: 

 

 
DATED THIS _______________________ DAY OF ______________________________20 ________ 
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Queensland Building Services Authority Act 1991 
Approved Form 13 – Version 1 

Attachment 9 – Financial Requirements for Licensing 
 

COVENANTOR’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
AS AT …………………………(DATE) 

(must be no earlier than the year end date on which the Report has been based) 
 

Covenantors Full Name:………………………………………………………….. 
(as stated in the Report and Deed of Covenant and Assurance) 

CURRENT ASSETS    
Cash Assets                                                $   
Receivables                                                 $   
Inventories                                                   $   
Other                                                           $   
Total Current Assets (a)                                         $ (a)      
    
NON CURRENT ASSETS    
Receivables                                                            $   
Property, Plant and Equipment                 $   
Other                                                      $   
Total Non Current Assets (b)                                 $ (b)      
    
TOTAL ASSETS  (e) =(a+b) $ (e) 
    
CURRENT LIABILITIES     
Payables                                                    $   
Interest-Bearing Liabilities                         $   
Current Tax Liabilities                                $   
Provisions                                                  $   
Other                                                          $   
Total Current Liabilities (c)  $ (c) 
    
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Interest-bearing Liabilities $   
Deferred Tax Benefits $   
Provisions $   
Other $   
Total Non Current Liabilities (d)                               $ (d)      
    
TOTAL LIABILITIES (f)                                           =(c+d) $ (f)       
    
NET ASSETS (y)                                                    =(e-f) $ (y)      
    
DISALLOWED AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (z)  $ (z) 
    
NET REAL UNENCUMBERED ASSETS ∗            =(y-z) $  
If the Covenantor has any contingent liabilities or is involved in any legal proceedings please provide a separate 
list detailing each contingent liability and legal matter.   
 
Note: The stated Net Real Unencumbered Assets being assured must not include any Related Entity 
Loans or Investments from the Licensee.  Refer section 2.4.5. 

…………         …………………………………. ……………         ………………………………………………. 
  (Date)                     (Name of Appropriately Qualified Person)          (Signature of Appropriately Qualified Person)  

 

                                                      
∗ This figure must at least equal the ‘Defined Amount’ figure stated in the Independent Review Report or Audit Report. 
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Queensland Building Services Authority Act 1991 
Approved Form 14 – Version 1 

Attachment 10 – Financial Requirements for Licensing 
 

REVIEW CONTROL SHEET 
 
Client Name:           

 

Date:            

 

Address:            

 

Contact Person:           

 

Telephone:            

 

Reviewed by:           

 
Program 
No. 

Details Completed 
date/initial  

Work Paper 
Reference 

Comments/Further 
Action 

     
1.1 Obtain an understanding of the 

client’s business through discussions 
with client. 
Utilise the methodology set out in 
AUS304 “Knowledge of Business” to 
obtain this understanding. 

   

     
1.2  Inquire with management that all 

relevant financial information is 
included in the financial statements 
(refer client questionnaire (1)). 

   

     
1.3 Compare previous year financial 

statements and discuss with 
management any significant account 
balance differences. 

   

     
1.4 Review the classification of items in 

the financial statements including the 
allocation between ‘current’ and 
‘non-current’. 

   

     
1.5 Are there any related entity items or 

transactions in the financial 
statements [refer client questionnaire 
(2)]?  If yes, review recoverability. 
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Program 
No. 

Details Completed 
date/initial  

Work Paper 
Reference 

Comments/Further 
Action 

1.6 Has there been any significant 
changes in the client’s business 
structure or nature of business 
during the year? 
If yes, discuss with client the reasons 
for the changes ]refer client 
questionnaire (3)]. 

   

     
1.7 Where any Deeds of Covenant and 

Assurance are used to meet the 
Financial Requirements for Licensing 
ensure that on renewal same have 
remained in place for the full 
financial year [refer “Entity” in the 
“Financial Requirements for 
Licensing”]. 
 

   

2.1 Examine the last bank statements 
and bank reconciliations for the 
period and match to balance sheet.  
Ensure large reconciliation items 
have been subsequently cleared by 
examining subsequent bank 
statements and reconciliations and 
that all un-presented cheques have 
been promptly cleared. 

   

     
3.1 Review aged debtors and creditors 

list and agree with trial balance 
   

     
3.2 Discuss with client any long 

outstanding debtors listed on aged 
debtors ledger (including retentions) 
and assess prospects of recovery. 

   

     
3.3 Verify major debtors, either through 

circularisation or by checking 
payments since the date of the 
debtors ledger. 

   

     
3.4 Examine creditors list with client to 

assess if any amounts have been 
omitted  [refer to client questionnaire 
(4) and (5)]. 

   

     
3.5 Test cut off of creditors to ensure 

that the liability for delivery of 
inventory has been recognised.  This 
can be performed by reviewing 
delivery of inventory just prior to, and 
just after, the reporting date. 
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Program 
No. 

Details Completed 
date/initial  

Work Paper 
Reference 

Comments/Further 
Action 

3.6 Examine timeliness of payments for 
PPS, Group Tax and 
Superannuation Guarantee Levy by 
examining the dates that cheques 
were cleared for each. 

   

     
4.1 Inquire as to the nature and extent of 

any contingent liabilities such as 
guarantees, potential legal action or 
rectification work 

   

     
5.1 Inquire whether debtors have been 

pledged, factored or discounted and 
whether any other assets have been 
pledged or are subject to financing 
arrangements. 

   

     
6.1 Inquire whether work in progress is 

completely recoverable [refer client 
questionnaire (7) and (8)].  Test 
recoverability with post balance date 
transactions (billings, cash receipts 
etc). 

   

     
7.1 Obtain a schedule of property 

including accumulated depreciation 
(for example a tax depreciation 
schedule) and agree the totals to the 
trial balance. 

   

     
7.2 Discuss with client any financing 

arrangements in place (leases, 
mortgages etc) [refer to client 
questionnaire (9) and (10)]. 

   

     
7.3 Consider the basis of valuation of 

assets and, if those assets are 
material, obtain an independent 
valuation (such as a kerbside 
valuation from a licensed real estate 
agent). 

   

 
Reviewed by :_________________________________             ____________________________               

                                           Partner                                                            Date 
 
Note: Working papers are to be maintained in accordance with Australian Auditing Standard AUS 208 “Documentation”. 
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TABLE 1 – FINANCIAL REQUIREMENTS FOR LICENSING   
 

Effective 
From 

CRITERIA SC1 

Declaration 

SC2 

Declaration 

 CATEGORY 
1  

CATEGORY 
2  

CATEGORY 3 CATEGORY 
4  

CATEGORY 
5  

CATEGORY 
6  

CATEGORY 
7  

CATEGORY 
8  

 Allowable Annual 
Turnover (AATO)1

Up to 
$100,000 

Up to 
$300,000 

Min  (a) 
Max (b) 

$300,001 - 
$600,000 

$600,001 - 
$3,000,000 

$3,000,001 -
$12,000,000 

$12,000,001-
$30,000,000 

$30,000,001_ 
$60,000,000 

$60,000,001 - 
$120,000,000 

$120,000,001 
-$240,000,000 

>$240M 
NTA x 16.67 

1 July 
2006 

Net Tangible Assets 
(NTA) 3
 

 
 

$6,000 

 
 

$18,000 
Min  (c) 
Max (d) 

 
$18,0012 – 

$36,000 

 
$36,001 – 
$156,000 

 
$156,001 – 
$480,000 

 
$480,001 - 
$825,000 

 
$825,001 - 
$1,380,000 

 
$1,380,001 - 
$4,800,000 

 
$4,800,001 - 
$14,400,000 

 
>$14.4M 

1 July 
2007 

Net Tangible Assets 
(NTA) 3
 

 
 

$6,000 

 
 

$18,000 
Min   (c) 
Max  (d) 

 
$18,0012 – 

$36,000 

 
$36,001 – 
$156,000 

 
$156,001 – 
$480,000 

 
$480,001 - 
$900,000 

 
$900,001 - 
$1,620,000 

 
$1,620,001 - 
$4,800,000 

 
$4,800,001 - 
$14,400,000 

 
>$14.4M 

1 July 
2008 

Net Tangible Assets 
(NTA) 3
 

 
 

$6,000 

 
 

$18,000 
Min   (c) 
Max  (d) 

$18,0012 – 
$36,000 

$36,001 – 
$156,000 

$156,001 – 
$480,000 

$480,001 - 
$975,000 

$975,001 - 
$1,800,000 

$1,800,001 - 
$4,800,000 

$4,800,001 - 
$14,400,000 >$14.4M 

1 July 
2009 

Net Tangible Assets 
(NTA) 3
 

 
 

$6,000 

 
 

$18,000 
Min   (c) 
Max  (d) 

$18,0012 – 
$36,000 

$36,001 – 
$156,000 

$156,001 – 
$480,000 

$480,001 - 
$1,050,000 

$1,050,001 - 
$1,980,000 

$1,980,001 - 
$4,800,000 

$4,800,001 - 
$14,400,000 >$14.4M 

1 July 
2010 

Net Tangible Assets 
(NTA) 3
 

 
 

$6,000 

 
 

$18,000 
Min   (c) 
Max  (d) 

$18,0012 – 
$36,000 

$36,001 – 
$156,000 

$156,001 – 
$480,000 

$480,001 - 
$1,125,000 

$1,125,001 - 
$2,220,000 

$2,220,001 - 
$4,800,000 

$4,800,001 - 
$14,400,000 >$14.4M 

1 July 
2011 

Net Tangible Assets 
(NTA) 3
 

 
 

$6,000 

 
 

$18,000 
Min   (c) 
Max  (d) 

$18,0012 – 
$36,000 

$36,001 – 
$156,000 

$156,001 – 
$480,000 

$480,001 - 
$1,200,000 

$1,200,001 - 
$2,400,000 

$2,400,001 - 
$4,800,000 

$4,800,001 - 
$14,400,000 >$14.4M 

 Prescribed Form  

(Refer Section 2.5) 

Attachment 
5 

Attachment 
6 

 
Attachment 

1 Attachment 1 Attachment 1 Attachment 2, 3 
or 4 

Attachment 2, 3 
or 4 

Attachment 2, 3 
or 4 

Attachment 2, 3 
or 4 

Attachment  
2, 3 or 4 

Notes: 
1. Formula for deriving level of allowable annual turnover between minimum and maximum NTA values expressed within categories 1 to 7:  AATO = {[(Licensee’s NTA - c) / 

(d - c)] x (b - a)} + a.  The calculation is not applied to SC1 and SC2 in determining AATO. 
2.   The amount of $18,001 shall be the minimum NTA requirement in Category 1. 
3. Net Tangible Assets = Entity’s Assets – Entity’s Liabilities – Intangible Assets.  Intangible Assets include goodwill, patents, intellectual property, etc.    
4.    Licensees must be able to produce internal management accounts at the intervals prescribed. Refer to Section 2.4 – Financial Monitoring Requirements. 
 
 

1 July 2006 



Contract Value Premium Contract Value Premium Contract Value Premium Contract Value Premium

60,000 $468.00 110,000  $869.00 160,000 $1264.00
61000 $475.80 111000         $876.90 161000       $1271.90
62000  $483.60 112000 $884.80 162000  $1279.80 
63000         $491.40 113000         $892.70 163000       $1287.70
64000  $499.20 114000  $900.60 164000  $1295.60
65000         $507.00 115000         $908.50 165000       $1303.50
66000  $514.80 116000  $916.40 166000  $1311.40
67000         $522.60 117000         $924.30 167000       $1319.30
68000  $530.40 118000  $932.20 168000  $1327.20
69000         $538.20 119000         $940.10 169000       $1335.10 

20,000  $156.40 70,000  $546.00 120,000  $948.00 170,000  $1343.00
21000  $163.80 71000  $553.80 121000  $955.90 171000  $1350.90
22000  $171.60 72000  $561.60 122000  $963.80 172000  $1358.80 
23000  $179.40 73000  $569.40 123000  $971.70 173000  $1366.70 
24000  $187.20 74000  $577.20 124000  $979.60 174000  $1374.60 
25000  $195.00 75000  $585.00 125000  $987.50 175000  $1382.50
26000  $202.80 76000  $592.80 126000  $995.40 176000  $1390.40
27000  $210.60 77000  $600.60 127000  $1003.30 177000  $1398.30
28000  $218.40 78000  $608.40 128000  $1011.20 178000  $1406.20 
29000  $226.20 79000  $616.20 129000  $1019.10 179000  $1414.10

30,000  $234.00 80,000  $624.00 130,000  $1027.00 180,000  $1422.00
31000  $241.80 81000  $631.80 131000  $1034.90 181000  $1429.90
32000  $249.60 82000  $639.60 132000  $1042.80 182000  $1437.80 
33000  $257.40 83000  $647.40 133000  $1050.70 183000  $1445.70
34000  $265.20 84000  $655.20 134000  $1058.60 184000  $1453.60 
35000  $273.00 85000  $663.00 135000  $1066.50 185000  $1461.50
36000  $280.80 86000  $670.80 136000  $1074.40 186000  $1469.40 
37000  $288.60 87000  $678.60 137000  $1082.30 187000  $1477.30
38000  $296.40 88000  $686.40 138000  $1090.20 188000  $1485.20
39000  $304.20 89000  $694.20 139000  $1098.10 189000  $1493.10 

40,000  $312.00 90,000  $702.00 140,000 $1106.00 190,000  $1501.00 
41000  $319.80 91000  $709.80 141000  $1113.90 191000  $1508.90
42000  $327.60 92000  $717.60 142000  $1121.80 192000  $1516.80
43000  $335.40 93000  $725.40 143000  $1129.70 193000  $1524.70
44000  $343.20 94000  $733.20 144000  $1137.60 194000  $1532.60
45000  $351.00 95000  $741.00 145000  $1145.50 195000  $1540.50
46000  $358.80 96000  $748.80 146000  $1153.40 196000  $1548.40
47000  $366.60 97000  $756.60 147000  $1161.30 197000  $1556.30
48000  $374.40 98000  $764.40 148000  $1169.20 198000  $1564.20
49000  $382.20 99000  $772.20 149000  $1177.10 199000  $1572.10

50,000  $390.00 100,000  $780.00 150,000  $1185.00 200,000  $1580.00 
51000  $397.80 101000  $797.90 151000  $1192.90
52000  $405.60 102000  $805.80 152000  $1200.80 
53000  $413.40 103000  $813.70 153000  $1208.70
54000  $421.20 104000  $821.60 154000  $1216.60
55000  $429.00 105000  $829.50 155000  $1224.50 
56000  $436.80 106000  $837.40 156000  $1232.40
57000  $444.60 107000  $845.30 157000  $1240.30
58000  $452.40 108000  $853.20 158000  $1248.20
59000  $460.20 109000  $861.10 159000  $1256.10 

For contracts signed on or after 1 July 2007

FOR MULTIPLE DWELLINGS  
One premium is payable on each individual residence e.g. round up to next whole value.

(Divide the total contract value by the number of units to calculate the premium)

INSURANCE PREMIUM TABLE
EFFECTIVE 1 JULY 2007

$3,301 - $20,000
Premium $156.40

Enquiries - Telephone 1300 272 272

201,000  $1611.40
202,000  $1617.55
203,000  $1623.70
204,000  $1629.85
205,000  $1636.00
206,000  $1642.15
207,000  $1648.30
208,000  $1654.45
209,000  $1660.60



Contract Value Premium Contract Value Premium Contract Value Premium Contract Value Premium

210,000 $1666.75 260,000 $1974.25 310,000 $2281.75 360,000 $2589.25
211,000  $1672.90 261,000  $1980.40 311,000  $2287.90 361,000  $2595.40
212,000  $1679.05 262,000  $1986.55 312,000  $2294.05 362,000  $2601.55 
213,000  $1685.20 263,000  $1992.70 313,000  $2300.20 363,000  $2607.70
214,000  $1691.35 264,000  $1998.85 314,000  $2306.35 364,000  $2613.85 
215,000  $1697.50 265,000  $2005.00 315,000  $2312.50 365,000  $2620.00
216,000  $1703.65 266,000  $2011.15 316,000  $2318.65 366,000  $2626.15
217,000  $1709.80 267,000  $2017.30 317,000  $2324.80 367,000  $2632.30 
218,000  $1715.95 268,000  $2023.45 318,000  $2330.95 368,000  $2638.45
219,000  $1722.10 269,000  $2029.60 319,000  $2337.10 369,000  $2644.60 

220,000 $1728.25 270,000 $2035.75 320,000 $2343.25 370,000 $2650.75
221,000  $1734.40 271,000  $2041.90 321,000  $2349.40 371,000  $2656.90
222,000  $1740.55 272,000  $2048.05 322,000  $2355.55 372,000  $2663.05 
223,000  $1746.70 273,000  $2054.20 323,000  $2361.70 373,000  $2669.20
224,000  $1752.85 274,000  $2060.35 324,000  $2367.85 374,000  $2675.35 
225,000  $1759.00 275,000  $2066.50 325,000  $2374.00 375,000  $2681.50
226,000  $1765.15 276,000  $2072.65 326,000  $2380.15 376,000  $2687.65
227,000  $1771.30 277,000  $2078.80 327,000  $2386.30 377,000  $2693.80 
228,000  $1777.45 278,000  $2084.95 328,000  $2392.45 378,000  $2699.95
229,000  $1783.60 279,000  $2091.10 329,000  $2398.60 379,000  $2706.10 

230,000 $1789.75 280,000 $2097.25 330,000 $2404.75 380,000 $2712.25
231,000  $1795.90 281000  $2103.40 331,000  $2410.90 381000  $2718.40 
232,000  $1802.05 282000  $2109.55 332,000  $2417.05 382000  $2724.55 
233,000  $1808.20 283000  $2115.70 333,000  $2423.20 383000  $2730.70
234,000  $1814.35 284000  $2121.85 334,000  $2429.35 384000  $2736.85
235,000  $1820.50 285000  $2128.00 335,000  $2435.50 385000  $2743.00 
236,000  $1826.65 286000  $2134.15 336,000  $2441.65 386000  $2749.15
237,000  $1832.80 287000  $2140.30 337,000  $2447.80 387000  $2755.30 
238,000  $1838.95 288000  $2146.45 338,000  $2453.95 388000  $2761.45 
239,000  $1845.10 289000  $2152.60 339,000  $2460.10 389000  $2767.60 

240,000 $1851.25 290,000 $2158.75 340,000 $2466.25 390,000 $2773.75
241,000  $1857.40 291000  $2164.90 341,000  $2472.40 391000  $2779.90 
242,000  $1863.55 292000  $2171.05 342,000  $2478.55 392000  $2786.05 
243,000  $1869.70 293000  $2177.20 343,000  $2484.70 393000  $2792.20
244,000  $1875.85 294000  $2183.35 344,000   $2490.85 394000  $2798.35 
245,000  $1882.00 295000  $2189.50 345,000  $2497.00 395000  $2804.50
246,000  $1888.15 296000  $2195.65 346,000  $2503.15 396000  $2810.65
247,000  $1894.30 297000  $2201.80 347,000  $2509.30 397000  $2816.80
248,000  $1900.45 298000  $2207.95 348,000  $2515.45 398000  $2822.95 
249,000  $1906.60 299000  $2214.10 349,000  $2521.60 399000  $2829.10

250,000 $1912.75 300,000 $2220.25 350,000 $2527.75 400,000 $2835.25
251,000  $1918.90 301000  $2226.40 351,000  $2533.90
252,000  $1925.05 302000  $2232.55 352,000  $2540.05 
253,000  $1931.20 303000  $2238.70 353,000  $2546.20
254,000  $1937.35 304000  $2244.85 354,000  $2552.35 
255,000  $1943.50 305000  $2251.00 355,000  $2558.50
256,000  $1949.65 306000  $2257.15 356,000  $2564.65
257,000  $1955.80 307000  $2263.30 357,000  $2570.80 
258,000  $1961.95 308000  $2269.45 358,000  $2576.95
259,000  $1968.10 309000  $2275.60 359,000  $2583.10 

Over $400,000
Premium $2,835.25
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